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VISION MISSION
To be positioned as a 
leading player in the 
energy value chain, 
delivering sustainable 
benefits, through 
our people, for all 
stakeholders.

To create 
exceptional 
national value 
from natural gas 
and energy 
businesses.
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NGC Group Corporate Profile

Who We Are
 
Incorporated in August 1975 by the Government of 
Trinidad and Tobago as a wholly owned state 
enterprise, The National Gas Company of Trinidad and 
Tobago Limited (‘NGC’) is an energy company whose 
core business activities are the aggregation, purchase, 
sale, transmission and distribution of natural gas. NGC 
is an internationally investment-graded company with 
the financial flexibility to self-finance or access funding 
on the local and international markets.  

What We Do
  
The Company has played a pivotal role in expanding 
Trinidad and Tobago’s gas-based energy sector, and is 
strategically positioned in the midstream of Trinidad 
and Tobago’s natural gas value chain.

NGC owns, maintains and operates the country’s 
transmission and distribution gas pipeline network of 
approximately 1,000 km which comprises both 
offshore and onshore segments. The network’s 
installed capacity is currently 4.4 billion standard cubic 
feet per day (Bscf/d) and supplies power generation 
firms, global scale petrochemical plants, and a wide

range of light manufacturing and commercial 
enterprises. Consistently profitable, NGC is a significant 
coreasury. Through its investments, strategic 
partnerships and pioneering gas-pricing model, NGC 
has successfully secured the profitability of the local 
gas-based energy sector, and enhanced the social, 
economic and industrial development of Trinidad and 
Tobago.

Through its subsidiaries and investments, NGC has 
strong linkages in the downstream and upstream 
sectors. Today, NGC leads a diversified Group of 
Companies which is evolving into a global business 
entity, working to develop a structure that supports its 
international mission to create exceptional value from 
natural gas and energy related  businesses, through 
valued partnerships and arrangements. 

NGC’s main subsidiaries include: 

•   National Energy Corporation of Trinidad and Tobago 
(‘National Energy’) 

•   Phoenix Park Gas Processors Limited (‘PPGPL’) 
•   NGC CNG Company Limited (‘NGC CNG’) 
•  Trinidad and Tobago NGL Limited (‘TTNGL’) 

A valued player in our nation’s natural gas-based energy 
sector, NGC, and by extension the NGC Group of 
Companies, has a proven business model for 
maximising resources for industrial development and 
long-term prosperity––a model with applicability far 
beyond the shores of Trinidad and Tobago.



00

Financial Statements (continued)

05

NGC Group of Companies
Legal Structure

.
..



Conrad Enill
CHAIRMAN

 I have 

confidence 

that this 

organisation 

is equipped 

and resolved 

to forge ahead 

and achieve 

its vision of 

sustainability.

In 2019, the NGC Group faced hurdles 
head-on to achieve success, driven by 
resourcefulness, sound strategy and 
the commitment of our team. It was a 
heartening sign for me that in my first  
year as Chairman, the Group was able 
to post a robust performance even 
while manoeuvring through a 
changing energy landscape. I have 
confidence that this organisation is 
equipped and resolved to forge ahead 
and achieve its vision of sustainability.

Business environment
 
The NGC Group performance for 2019 
must be situated and appreciated 
within the context of the international 
business environment.

The International Monetary Fund 
(‘IMF’) reports that the world economic

growth in 2019 was just 2.3%, largely 
due to:

    • Trade disputes between the 
       USA and China 
    • A reduction of capital spending on      
       equipment, machinery, and   
       consumer durables because 
       of uncertainty
    • Policy uncertainty in major    
       economic blocks

Conditions in the global economy 
impacted the energy space where 
major structural shifts were reshaping 
the industry. The price of crude oil 
faced multifactorial onslaught, not the 
least of which was and still is the 
hovering geopolitical cloud of 
China-US relations which was creating 
a degree of uncertainty in the market 
and raising questions around demand.  

The National Gas Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited

Chairman’s Review
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Chairman’s Review (continued)

Proposed designs for NGC CNG multi-purpose 
flagship fuellling station at Preysal Interchange 

External market forces––including: falls in OECD 
demand, sporadic social unrest in the Middle East, 
Iranian sanctions, a bearish Euro after the uncertainty 
surrounding Brexit, and increasing US and Russia oil 
production––were all giving rise to an imbalance of 
supply and demand, driving prices down. Reduced 
production by OPEC and attempts at a negotiated 
settlement among major producers, did not strengthen 
the market or shore up prices. 

Altogether, these factors led to a decline of 9.43% in 
average oil prices from US$71.06/barrel Brent Crude 
(2018) to US$64.36/barrel (2019) and decline of 12.25% in 
WTI crude average oil prices from US$64.94/barrel (2018) 
to US$56.98 (2019). 

In 2019, arguably the greatest shift in the business 
environment was caused by the significant advances in 
production and exportation of natural gas, as witnessed 
in the USA because of the shale gas revolution. The US is 
now a net exporter of LNG, which is quite different to the 
large import market that it was 20 years ago.  There was a 
downward drift in global LNG prices because of excess 
supplies and falling oil prices to which some LNG 
contracts are linked. 
 
As a result of these developments, natural gas prices in 
the US (Henry Hub) declined by 18.7% to US$2.57/mmbtu 
in 2019.  Between 2018 and 2019, European (Netherlands) 
and Asian (Japan) gas prices declined by 43.8% and 
44.2% to US$4.45/mmbtu and US$5.44/mmbtu, respectively.  

International petrochemical markets also saw 
movement in 2019. The price of ammonia fell by 23% 
from 2018, while the price of methanol was 25% lower in 
the US Gulf Spot and 31% less in China. The sale price of 
natural gas to our downstream petrochemical 
customers––which is linked directly to the price of these 
commodities––was consequently impacted. This, 
combined with the global gas pricing trends, dampened 
our competitiveness as a petrochemical export location. 

Our downstream partners are an essential and valued 
part of the Group’s ecosystem. We continue to engage 
in negotiations that attempt to bring a fair share of 
value to all parties in the gas chain, and to encourage 

operational efficiencies and cost saving measures to 
boost profitability. 

We keep working with our other downstream consumers 
to provide natural gas at a feasible price, while supporting 
the plants which remain committed to the partnerships 
we have forged.

Cognisant of the changing industry landscape, the Group 
continues to adapt its strategy and business model to 
pursue new markets. Chinese tariffs on US LNG 
prevented US imports into China and made a 
conversation with China a strategically smart pursuit.  
These discussions have led to the start of what we hope 
to be a profitable and sustainable relationship with China. 
However, as new markets and partnerships are acquired, 
we would be remiss if we were to forget other 
foundational partnerships.

Ensuring adequate supply upstream remains a critical 
imperative for domestic business growth. In 2019, NGC 
successfully negotiated fully termed Domestic Gas Sales 
Contract (‘DGSC’) with Shell.  Sanctions imposed by the 
US on Venezuela have hampered progress on the Dragon 
Field Initiative, but this has provided a renewed impetus 
to seek new opportunities. Attention has shifted to the 
independent development by Shell of that portion of the 
Loran Manatee field that lies within the Trinidad and 
Tobago maritime borders. 



Under the Paris Climate Agreement, Trinidad and Tobago 
has committed to a reduction of 15% in greenhouse gas 
emissions by 2030.  In support of this, the NGC Group has 
launched the pilot Super Energy Services Company 
(‘ESCO’) Initiative to provide support for creation and 
implementation of energy efficiency Initiatives.  Through 
our subsidiary, the NGC CNG, we continue to promote the 
use of CNG as an alternative fuel that would help reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions. Since 2014, almost 20,000 
tonnes of CO   emissions have been avoided through 
displacement of petroleum fuels with CNG.   In 2019, the 
NGC Group turned the sod for construction of the first, 
solar- powered, multi-fuel service station in Trinidad 
and Tobago.

Financial performance

Given the international industry context, I am extremely 
proud of the financial performance posted by the NGC 
Group in 2019.  Against the background of change and 
volatility, the NGC Group recorded a solid Group profit after 
tax of TT$396 million for 2019. Although this represents a 
decrease of 83% from the 2018 profit after tax, dividends 
and taxes to Government still totalled a substantial 
TT$1.372 billion in 2019. The Group’s reduced profitability 
was attributable to a decline in margins, lower exceptional 
income, and impairment provisions. However,  the  Group 
is intent on improving on this performance through the 
execution of its growth strategy and the building of a strong 
sustainable business.

Group highlights 

The NGC Group marked National Energy’s 40 years of 
incorporation and energy development in Trinidad and 
Tobago. It confidently continues to live by the original 
objective written into its Articles of Association in 1979: 
‘to coordinate, stimulate,  facilitate and promote the 
development and integration of the hydrocarbon-based 
and energy-intensive industries of Trinidad and Tobago 
and all associated enterprises’. 

Sustainability      
   
The Group made several steps towards sustainability. 
The following gives a snapshot of these:
       
             i.   Collaboration with BP, Shell and Lightsource    
                   BP to  produce a 130 MW Utility Scale
                    Renewable Energy Project in Trinidad
                    and Tobago

          ii.    Launch of Super Energy Services Company  
               (‘ESCO’) Project which assesses Light            
                 Industrial and Commercial Customers (‘LICs’)  
                to record  their current practices and   
                suitability for  implementation of Energy
                 Efficiency programmes  
         iii.     Market study for the use of  LNG as a 
                 marine fuel 
       iv.      Solar Energy Park Project (Solar PV     
                 manufacturing and development of float 
                 glas plant)              
        v.     Member of Cabinet-Appointed Committee for  
                 the Development of a National Energy
                Conservation and Energy Efficiency Action    
                 Plan for Trinidad and Tobago
          vi.   Since 2014, almost 20,000 tonnes of CO   
                 emissions have been avoided through
                displacement of petroleum fuels with CNG.

 Growth and stability 
       `   
          i.    Registration of subsidiary company in     
                Guyana, National Energy (Guyana ) Inc. 
         ii.    Successful negotiation of  fully termed     
                 Domestic Gas   Sales Contract (‘DGSC’) 
                 with Shell 
       iii.     Signing of the DeNovo Condensate     
                 Agreement, which increased our natural
                gasoline output by 600 bpd 
       iv.     Retention of core Caribbean Markets for LPG    
        v.     Acceptance by Twin Eagle Liquids Marketing  
                LLC of PPGPL’s NBO for its liquids marketing     
                 business
      vi.     Historic LNG partnership with China 
      vii.     Marketing cargoes directly through a   
                  Commodity Trading Desk

    viii.     Commencement of construction of the     
                 multi-purpose flagship fuelling station at   
                  Preysal Interchange      
      ix.     Completion of E-Auctions and SAP Ariba    
                  implementation.
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Engagement

      i.     Inaugural CNG Symposium 
     ii.       US$10 million for the purchase of advanced
              cancer diagnostic and treatment equipment    
              which will be made available to the public 
             free of charge
   iii.     Participation in Gastech 2019 and AMCHAM’s       
              inaugural HSSE conference in Guyana. 

These highlights reflect the significant positivity that 
the NGC Group produced during 2019  de spite 
much turbulence in the external environment.

Perspective on the future

While the challenges of 2019 could have been derailing 
for a lesser company, they have served to highlight the 
depth, resilience, and value of the NGC Group. Thus far, 
our response to these challenges has been successful 
because we were prepared. The effects of the industry’s 
fractures only strengthen the need to proceed with the 
strategic changes that the forward-thinking leadership 
at NGC already began putting into motion. We will 
recover and thrive after this crisis is over by instituting 
the plans to be an integrated energy company, to extract 
maximum value at each point of the value chain and 
strengthen our foundation for sustainability. 

A major part of future profitability hinges on obtaining 
business in emerging markets. We have already begun 
this journey with Guyana and Ghana and will rigorously 
seek more opportunities. Potential revenue from new 
business, however, could be largely wasted if it fits into 
old infrastructure. Therefore, improving efficiencies 
through technology and cost management remains an 
achievable imperative.

As we take these approaches to integrate and grow the 
Company, our eyes will stay ever focused on 
sustainability of business and environment. Despite the 
current outlook, a focus on strategy and leveraging the 
intelligence of our people will see the NGC Group to a 
brighter future in coming years.

Appreciation

One may look upon 2019 and early 2020 as a difficult 
first year for an incoming Chairman. However, despite 
what the perception may be, my first year as Chairman 
has been a wonderful learning experience, wholly 
because of the solid team of dedicated personnel that 
comprise the NGC Group. For this, I express deepest 
gratitude to all for welcoming me to the helm.

To the Government of Trinidad and Tobago, without 
whom progress would not have been possible, we at the 
NGC Group extend our appreciation, and look forward 
to continued positive relations as we work together to 
help the country not only recover but thrive.

To the Board of Directors, my partners in progress, 
I salute you and eagerly anticipate continuing 
stimulating conversations and bold decisions for the 
greater good of the Company and Country. 

To the management staff and the hard-working 
employees of the NGC Group, your contribution is the 
most valuable of all. Leaders are called to serve, and I 
can only endeavour to serve you as well as you have 
served me and our Company during the last year. 
 

 
 

Conrad Enill
CHAIRMAN

May I reassure you 
that with your help, 
our light will shine
 brightest in 
the darkness. 
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 The global natural gas industry faced 
turbulent conditions in 2019. 
Over-supply, weakening demand and a 
consequent fall in prices across 
commodity markets, typified the global 
market space.  In Trinidad and Tobago, 
far from subsiding, a perfect storm 
created by a confluence of market 
factors, became more intense, placing 
uncertainty on the future of our 
industry. Under these circumstances, it 
gives me great satisfaction to report that 
NGC navigated through these turbulent 
conditions and continues to progress 
on our journey to sustainability.

Financial performance

In 2019, our core business grappled with 
unfavourable trends in both revenue 
and costs, which compressed margins 

and limited our degrees of commercial 
freedom. Sales to ammonia and 
methanol industries account for 74% of 
volume sales and 58% of Group 
revenue. Our gas sales prices are linked 
by formula to the prices of these 
commodities on international markets.  
Income from LNG typically makes up 
another 5% of revenue. After 
shareholder and Government 
discussions on Train 1, NGC was able to 
access and market its share of LNG 
cargoes from Train 1.
 
The commodity price meltdown in 
2019 was pervasive.  Ammonia prices 
declined by 23%, while methanol prices 
suffered a 31% drop from 2018. European 
and Asian gas prices (LNG), declined by 
43% and 44.2% respectively, between 
2018 and 2019.  

Under these 
circumstances, 

it gives me great 
satisfaction to 

report that NGC 
navigated 

through these 
turbulent 

conditions and 
continues to 

progress on 
our journey to 
sustainability. 

Mark Loquan
PRESIDENT

The National Gas Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited

President’s Report
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Therefore, NGC experienced a 14.9%  fall in revenues 
to TT$13.609 billion.  At the same time, higher priced 
supplie s delivered under new gas purchase 
contracts resulted in an uptick in the weighted 
average cost of gas, further compre ssing sale s 
margins.  These contrasting trends account for the 
drop, in profitability from TT$2,396 million in 2018 
to TT$396 million in 2019, bringing to the fore our 
vulnerability to external shocks. 

In response to what admittedly are difficult market 
conditions and the threat to our core revenues, NGC has 
placed heavy emphasis on managing costs through 
efficiency improvements in procurement, product 
delivery and several value optimisation initiatives. 
At the same time, we relentle ssly pursued our 
long-term strategy to move the business to a more 
sustainable footing.
 
Securing current business

NGC remained laser-focused on ensuring the stability of 
natural gas supply and on the long-term profitability of 
this industry. The pathways to achieving this required 
increasing gas volumes allocated to domestic use, 
pursuing across border sources and optimising local 
consumption, such that we maximise stability of the 
network and optimise value in a financially challenged 
environment. 

Despite the marginal increase in natural gas sales from 
1440 mmscf/d in 2018 to 1482 mmscf/d in 2019, the year 
2019 was an interesting one on several fronts. Firstly, our 
strategic programme of acquiring natural gas supplies 
from all the upstream producers that began three (3) 
years ago, laid the foundation for an uptick in supply that 
we will witness in the very near future. This programme 
culminated in the signing of a long-term domestic gas 
sales contract (‘DGSC’) with Shell Trinidad.  NGC has now 
completed agreements with all major suppliers––BP, 
EOG, BHP, as well as DeNovo. I take this opportunity to 
pay special compliments to our negotiating team for their 
indefatigable efforts to ensure continuity in the supply 
of gas for our customers in a professional manner, with 
good relationships.

For the first time in five (5) years, there was an 
elimination of ‘days of curtailment’. Our daily gas 
supply exceeded daily downstream demand as 
several plants undertook planned maintenance 
activity during the course of the year.

The projected upstream supply scenario is far more 
optimistic now than two (2) years ago. There has been a 
significant ramping-up of exploration and development 
activity. Moreover, geological confidence has been 
boosted by using new ocean-bottom seismic imaging 
technology which provides greater clarity of data and 
facilitates, improved well positioning, thereby enhancing 
prospects for future discoveries. Several new 
discoveries and the sanctioning of major upstream 
investment programmes were announced in 2019. 

In December, BPTT announced a major gas discovery in 
the Ginger exploration well, off the South East Coast.  BP 
also commenced work on its Cassia compression project, 
as well as the Matapal project, both sanctioned in 2018. 
The Cassia compression project is expected to deliver 
gas in Q4 2021 whilst the Matapal project is expected to 
deliver first gas in 2022 from the Savannah discovery 
made in 2017.

In September 2019, Touchstone Exploration announced 
a significant hydrocarbon discovery in the Ortoire 
exploration block. Further exploration success has 
confirmed gas in commercial quantities on this onshore 
block, validating the long-held view that there was 
untapped hydrocarbon potential onshore Trinidad. 
O n go i n g  d eve l o p m e n t a l  wo rk  w i l l  co n fi r m  t h e    
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President and Country Chairman of Shell Trinidad 
Derek Hudson, at the signing of the Term Sheet 
Agreement between the companies



economic potential of these gas sands, and NGC is ready 
to advance negotiations to add this gas to our supply 
pool. 
 
In September 2019, NGC through its wholly owned 
subsidiary NGC E&P Netherlands B.V., as 11.41% joint 
venture partner in Block 3(a), received approval to 
sanction the investment of US$500 million (gross) to 
develop the Ruby Petroleum Project. The field is 
estimated to have 13.6 million barrels of oil and 274 
billion cubic feet of natural gas. This project is of special 
significance to NGC, not only because it is expected first 
gas in  Q4 2021, (and which is to be sold exclusively to 
NGC), but also because as noted earlier, NGC holds an 
11.41%, participating interest in Block 3(a),  which 
represents our strategic decision to expand our interest 
across the gas value chain.

Shell also received Final Investment Decision 
regarding the Barracuda (Block 5C) Project on the East 
Coast of Trinidad. Additionally, Shell conducted 
development work on its Colibri project off the North 
Coast and increased local reserves stock in March 2019 
through its infill drilling in the Dolphin field.  A portion 
of the gas from these two (2) fields will be sold to NGC 
under the new DGSC recently signed with Shell. 

Though local prospects have been buoyed by an 
upsurge in upstream activity, NGC continues to pursue 
the diversification of supply sources by seeking to tap 
into the reserves of neighbouring countries.

It is no secret that the era of abundant cheap gas is 
behind us. Increasing the Group’s profitability remains 
a priority, and it rests on ensuring that T&T’s precious 
molecules yield maximum economic returns. The 
actions are clear: reduce the demand for natural gas for 
electricity generation and improve the efficiency of gas 
utilisation to release gas for higher value-added 
applications, while working on value optimisation 
internally across the Group and across the entire value 
chain. 
 
As part of our corporate sustainability strategy, NGC is 
now playing a leading role in energy efficiency policy 
and action in Trinidad and Tobago.  In this regard, 
together with our subsidiary National Energy, we have 
made significant progress on our pioneering Super 
Energy Services Company (‘ESCO’) programme that 

came on the heels of the 2018 NGC Light Industrial and 
Commercial (‘LIC’) Customer Forum. The idea of this 
project is to promote sustainable energy business 
practices by assisting customers to identify measures to 
improve energy efficiency and cut costs through energy 
auditing.
  
We have now established an entire new department to 
focus on manufacturing industries and energy 
efficiency. Thus far, we have conducted energy audits 
on eight (8) LICs.  Significantly, NGC is developing an 
‘energy efficiency’ app for the public, to facilitate 
behaviour change at the domestic level. 

This will be launched in 2020. The project’s evolution 
will see an expansion in scope to include audits for 
petrochemical customers and further capacity-building 
for internal ESCO capabilities.

Growing business
  
Expanding our business organically and inorganically 
to become a global integrated gas player and to create 
greater shareholder value, remained an imperative in 
2019. Led by our Commercial Group, we aggressively 
pursued opportunities to advance the LNG 
diversification and internationalisation agenda. 

Two fundamental developments will reshape the LNG 
landscape from 2020: the positioning of NGC for future 
equity in Atlantic’s Trains 1 to 4  and   decisions on the
future of Train 1.  Discussions are ongoing for the 
unitisation of Trains 1 to 4 to yield greater efficiency by 
demolishing the old archetype of operating each Train 
under different commercial agreements and models. 
The contractual life of Atlantic LNG Train 1, in which 
NGC holds a 10% equity share, came to an end in 2018. 
Initial plans to extend the life for an additional period 
were discontinued when the gas supplier advised of its 
inability to deliver because of unsuccessful exploration 
efforts. A more comprehensive risk-based approach is 
now being taken to determine the future of Train 1.  Gas 
supply availability, the required capital injection, the 
business model, and taxation regime are some of the 
critical factors to be considered moving forward.

It is said that ‘’…opportunity dances with those on the 
dance floor”. The announcement of China’s impressive 
2017––decarbonisation agenda has led to burgeoning

(continued)President’s Report
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Chinese natural gas consumption and a surge in LNG 
imports. The International Energy Agency forecasts that 
China’s gas consumption will increase by 190% from 
2018 to 2050, reaching 21.7 Tcf. This has opened new 
commercial territory for NGC’s business. After assessing 
viable LNG market opportunities in China, our team took 
definitive action and signed a Memorandum of 
Understanding (‘MOU’) in April 2019 with Beijing 
Rheingau Investment Corporation––an affiliate of China 
Investment Corporation (‘CIC’). CIC is one of our valued 
co-owners of Atlantic LNG’s Train 1. This MOU laid the 
foundation for the comingling and joint marketing of LNG 
cargoes. In 2019, NGC’s LNG marketing subsidiary 
Trinidad and Tobago LNG (‘TTLNG’), successfully sold 
five (5) joint CIC and TTLNG cargoes realising a net 
positive margin for both parties. In addition, the NGC 
LNG team secured sales for three (3) other equity 
cargoes.  The NGC team must be commended for its 
continued display of keen foresight and diligence to bring 
greater value to our shareholders.

Corporate governance/risk management
 
The way we work determines our exposure to risk––thus, 
risk management protocols continue to be the 
benchmark of defining how we execute our operations. 
NGC has onboarded a Group Risk Management position 
to lead the risk management and insurance functions 
across the Group. Our Risk Management Council meets 
on a quarterly basis and continues to steer the 
methodology for one common vocabulary across all 
areas of the organisation.  An inaugural online tracking 
portal enables Internal Audit to track the implementation 
of the Council’s recommendations. We are now 
monitoring, in real time, every area of priority audit 
recommendations in terms of risk and exposure and 

their closure status. As a result––and for the first time––90% 
of issues classified as top priority were closed off in 2019.

In furtherance of the establishment of the Corporate 
Governance and Compliance Unit, and to ensure 
compliance with the Freedom of Information Act, focus 
was placed on transition planning, and ensuring a 
dedicated team is in place to manage sensitive 
information and ensure governance and compliance. 
This includes any freedom of information issues that 
may arise. The implemented Whistleblowing Policy has 
been augmented with a hotline for reporting 
corruption, and we have implemented policies around 
unethical behaviour such as insider trading.

For the first time, we have achieved a complete roll out of 
the State Enterprises Performance Manual and 
Governance Manual to new members of the Board of 
Directors, upon their instalment in July 2019.  We have 
leveraged technology and have digitised the annual 
Conflict of Interest reporting forms to track and detect 
any issues that may arise. This now allows supervisors 
to receive notifications. Employees are required to 
respond, providing action to be taken to minimise 
conflicts indicated.

HSSE and asset integrity 

Health, Safety, Security & Environment 
(‘HSSE’)

Managing significant risk forms the foundation of the 
Company’s overall HSSE strategy. In 2019, we sought to 
understand better our significant risks and the strength 
of our barriers, and thereby to reshape our three-year 
strategic goals. Key to this process was further 
embedding Process Safety and Asset Integrity 
Management into the way we work. Having already 
adopted a Risk-Based Process Safety Management 
(‘RBPSM’) framework, our initiatives focused on 
improving our safe systems of work in several areas. 
Principal among these were process improvements for: 
job hazard assessment and control of work, managing 
exposure to hazardous energy, industrial hygiene 
management, and our plans for crisis management and 
emergency response.

The successful realisation of these initiatives is 
juxtaposed with the organisation’s ability to recognise 
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of Understanding between the companies



and apply lessons learnt from both leading and lagging 
data. To this end, we revised our system for reporting, 
investigating, and learning from incidents, while 
leveraging opportunities for sharing lessons across the 
industry. This was manifested in our participation in 
local and international events, which included a 
number of firsts: championing and presenting at the 
Point Lisas Energy Association’s Inaugural Process 
Safety Conference; presenting and networking with our 
counterparts at the first Health, Safety, Security and 
Environment (‘HSSE’) Conference held in Guyana.

To rationalise our strategic HSSE initiatives and increase 
effectiveness and efficiency, we continued to seek 
synergies across the NGC Group. In 2019, this involved 
adopting a common approach for managing the HSSE 
performance of contractors, particularly those involved 
in high risk work, HSSE inductions, occupational health 
and emergency care, and safe driving.

While we did not meet all our HSSE performance targets 
for this period, there have been constant improvements 
in our leading metrics, and these will be capitalised 
upon in the following strategic year.

Asset integrity

Quite apart from improving on occupational safety, we 
have expanded our focus on asset integrity and process 
safety. In 2019, NGC established the ISO 55000, twenty 
(20) elements of Process Safety Management best 
practices, an asset integrity framework that is now online 
and applied across the Group. We have enhanced

the competence of our staff with relevant training 
and development to become Process Safety 
Professionals. For the first time, NGC now has a master 
datafile of equipment and assets and safety critical 
equipment included in SAP Maintenance Management 
system.  Tracking a visual map of the twenty (20) 
elements of Process Safety Management best 
practices––incorporating the status of its progress against 
the milestones––is part of the monitoring process.

Cost management, procurement and 
project excellence

Despite issues of commodity prices, cost savings 
remains top of mind in 2019, with a strong push to focus 
on supply change management, integration and 
planning with people who are generating the work 
across the entire Group. Added to that, Value 
Optimisation Initiatives (‘VOI’) are being implemented 
where teams are now focusing on anything––molecular 
or commercial––which will result in increased value, 
including optimising sources of gas for great value. 
Further, the introduction of Power BI data visualisation 
software now enables real time monitoring of all cost 
reduction and value innovation initiatives.

NGC’s procurement systems and processes are now in 
full compliance with the Public Procurement and 
Disposal of Public Property Act (Procurement Act). In 
2019, the Chief Procurement Officer and a lawyer were 
appointed to the Supply Chain Management Group and 
the procurement function was centralised.   We made a 
f u n d a me nt a l  s h i ft  i n  t he  way  we  work  w it h  t he  
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NGC signed on to the Energy Efficiency Charter at the Trinidad and Tobago Energy Conference
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implementation of E-Auctions utilising SAP Ariba, which 
has  been generating significant value for NGC.  We have 
integrated the planning between the Projects Team and 
Supply Chain Management Team, with E-Auction plans 
being developed and executed for nine (9) E-Auctions. In 
addition to increasing  transparency, 

E-Auctions have resulted in a profound change in the 
organisation’s efficiency in 2019.  For 2020, we project a 
step change as we focus on planning for the future. 
Planned E-Auctions for 2020 will increase to over forty 
(40) across the NGC Group, with a corresponding shift in 
timing as our technical personnel are now focused on 
completing the detailed Scope of Works much earlier in 
the project lifecycle. 

With the new operating system and the use of 
technology, NGC has achieved a remarkable 
improvement in project delivery.  In 2017, only 36% of 
projects were delivered on schedule. That success rate 
increased to 60% in 2018 and topped 85% in 2019, and 
included some major projects.  The Liquid Fuels Pipeline 
Project, involving multiple parties, was finally brought to 
mechanical completion. While Paria Trading (formerly 
Petrotrin) has yet to provide fuel to the Liquid Fuel
Pipeline Complex (‘LFPC’) to facilitate full commissioning 
of gasoline and diesel systems, from an NGC Project 
Management perspective, the jet fuel portion of this 
legacy project was completely handed over.

Other major capital projects include:

       •  Union Estate - receiver completed on time to  
            allow Caribbean Gas Chemicals Limited (‘CGCL’) 
            to receive gas
       •  Diversion works on the 16-inch gas pipeline in 
           the Charlieville area which is well advanced.

Developing our people

The sustainability of the organisation depends on the 
knowledge and competence of our human resources. In 
2019, NGC significantly progressed our initiatives geared 
towards the development of our human resources, with 
the objective of achieving increased employee 
engagement and participation.
 
One significant milestone was the progression to Phase 2 
of the Competence, Knowledge and Skills Development 
Project (‘CKSD’). One hundred and sixty-nine (169) 
employees were selected from both the Operations and 
Commercial Groups to participate in the assessment of 
the knowledge and skills that they currently possess. 
By the end of December 2019, all selected employees 
were completely mapped. Initial  scepticism has 
been translated to acceptance, as employees now 
understand that this process is a determination of 
the necessary training and development required to 
bridge the gap  between where they currently are—and 
  

The NGC group has made significant contributions to National Development Photo credit: Method Moda (@method_moda)
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the knowledge and skillsets required to optimally 
perform job functions. With this significant impact 
realised in the efficiency of both groups, in 2020 we will 
continue to extend this process to other parts of 
operations not previously mapped––including Supply 
Chain Management, Projects and Finance––with the 
objective of impacting the elements of Process Safety 
and Asset Integrity Management.

The Employee Benchmark Survey conducted in 2018 
has birthed improvement initiatives and a plan of action 
across functional areas.  The dashboard system has been 
implemented enabling the tracking of key metrics at the 
Group, Divisional and individual levels. Events are hosted 
for employee participation and inclusion, aimed at 
engendering more empowered and engaged employees. 

Strengthening our national contribution
 
As evidenced by the independently audited reports of 
the T&T Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative, 
NGC is the largest contributor to Government’s energy 
revenues.  In 2019, a total of TT$1.372 billion was added to 
the national purse, of which TT$192.9 million were 
dividend payments. Without doubt, NGC’s financial 
contributions help to buttress the economy at a time 
when the Government is in a fiscal crunch.

Quite apart from our financial contributions, there was 
a tectonic shift in the way that the Company views 
sustainability. With a solid body of work behind us,
 

our approach became less philanthropic and 
corporate-focused, and more people-focused by 
deepening the impact of our investments to create 
sustainable positive multiplier effects and value for all 
stakeholders.  This philosophy reverberated throughout 
every arm of NGC’s operations including our community 
projects, energy efficiency and environmental initiatives. 
 
The year 2019 saw the reshaping of our community 
projects through our sustainability lenses.  For example, 
in Q2 2019, NGC collaborated with the Youth Training and 
Employment Partnership Programme (‘YTEPP’) to 
provide customised vocational training for NGC’s 
sponsored Police Youth Clubs (‘PYC’) at Laventille Road, 
Couva, Penal, La Brea and Mayaro. This programme 
provided 138 males and females, aged 19-25, with new 
skills in barbering, braiding and weaving, electrical 
installation, and introductory electronics. Moving 
beyond sponsorship, we disrupted patterns of juvenile 
delinquency, tackled poverty and created economic 
opportunities to help our nation’s youth build a 
sustainable future.

Another example of our contemporary sustainability 
mindset is our partnership with the MIC Institute of 
Technology Limited to provide education and training in 
steelpan manufacturing for our sponsored steelbands. 
The programme progressed in 2019, and equipped 
participants with knowledge of: steelpan construction 
and tuning, the science of sound, the history of Pan, 
music technology, welding and fabrication; as well as
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related mathematics, science, and computer 
applications. NGC’s aim is to ensure independence and 
institutional strengthening of the T&T steelpan industry 
and to position NGC’s sponsored and part-sponsored 
bands on the pathway to sustainability.

We also advanced the Steelpan Music Score Project, 
inaugurated in 2018, involving scoring steelpan music 
scripts for public education. The launch of the e-booklet 
form of the scored music is carded for early 2020. In 
addition to being the sole aggregator for gas, NGC has 
sought, through these unrivalled programmes, to be an 
aggregator of Pan knowledge. 

NGC is the first State-owned company to advocate for the 
accelerated development and adoption of energy 
efficiency policies, practices, and technologies. In 2019, 
our efforts to promote the efficient use of energy took on a 
more synergistic purpose. This collaborative seed was 
firmly planted with the signing of an Energy Efficiency 
Charter with other companies at the Trinidad and Tobago 
Energy Conference. Following our instrumental 
role––together with National Energy––in developing a 
Cabinet Note on energy efficiency and energy 
conservation, Cabinet appointed NGC and National 
Energy to a multi-sectoral Committee in June 2019 to 
develop a five-year action plan for the efficient use of 
energy in all sectors. This road map was submitted to the 
Ministry of Public Utilities for evaluation. 

Re-inventing the wheel is inefficient. Our Company is 
continuously leveraging best practice to enrich our 
projects and to make the most well-informed investment 
decisions. To that end, the President of National Energy 
and I visited Santiago to learn more about the Chilean 
vision and strategy on clean energy and energy efficiency.  
Some of the key lessons learnt included the importance 
of building public consciousness and buy-in, as well as the 
need for facilitative policies to accelerate investment in 
energy efficiency and renewable energy. Many of these 
learnings were incorporated in the work of the 
Cabinet-appointed committee and in our in-house 
initiatives such as the TT Engage investment platform and 
the Super ESCO project.

The accelerated use of CNG is another necessary step 
towards achieving greater environmental and economic 
sustainability in T&T.  Expanded use of this cleaner 

burning fuel helps T&T make good on its international 
promise to reduce its carbon footprint and its potential to 
liberate displaced subsidised liquid fuels for export. Since 
2014, roughly 25,000 tonnes of CO     emissions  were 
avoided because of the switch from liquid petroleum 
fuels.  CNG sales have also increased by 283% from 
2.85Mn litres in 2014 to 10.92Mn litres in 2019.   Significant 
progress has also been made to increase the availability 
of CNG to the public, with conversions averaging 200 per 
month in 2019, and a rapid CNG station network 
expansion programme underway. New stations were 
opened at Munroe Road and Cyrus Road (El Socorro) 
while construction work commenced on the new flagship 
station at the NGC CNG Preysal Interchange and PTSC’s 
Compound at South Quay.

2

Appreciation 

NGC remains steadfast on its 
path towards becoming an 
integrated and sustainable 
energy business.  

I take this opportunity to 
t h a n k t hos e i n my 
Leadership Team without 
whom the Company’s vision 
would be stymied. 

Many persons also played a 
part in and continue to 
contribute to our progress.

To our employees, for their 
dedication and energy in 
driving our results, I say 
‘Thank You’. 

I also express my gratitude to 
the communities in which 
we live and work. 

Finally,  my appreciation 
for you our shareholders,  
t h e c it i ze n s o f Tr i n id a d 
a n d To b a g o, fo r yo u r 
continued support,  trust,  
and confidence.   

Mark Loquan
PRESIDENT

I give you all 
our commitment 
to continue 
to create 
exceptional 
value for the 
benefit of 
current and 
future 
generations. 
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The Directors are pleased to submit their report to the shareholders together with the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

1.	 BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

	 The National Gas Company whose core business includes the aggregation and distribution of natural 
gas also has interests across the gas value chain with investments in the upstream, midstream and 
downstream. Additionally, the Company provides services to the energy sector through its estates, 
ports and marine assets. 

2.	 FINANCIAL RESULTS

	 The Group recorded a profit after taxation of TT$395.75 million which was TT$2 billion or 83.48% lower 
than the 2018 restated profit of TT$2.39 billion.  

	 Group revenues decreased by TT$2.39 billion from TT$16 billion to TT$13.61 billion in 2019.  The decrease 
in revenue was primarily driven by reduction in Ammonia, Methanol and Natural Gas Liquids (‘NGL’) 
prices which decreased by 23%, 31% and 23.4% respectively. Commodity price decreases which were 
further impacted by increased costs of gas contributed to a reduction in gross profit which decreased 
by TT$2.44 billion from TT$3.44 billion in 2018 to TT$1 billion in 2019. The lower margins were further 
impacted by impairment charges resulting in a net profit for 2019 of TT$396 million which was TT$2 
billion lower than the 2018 restated profit of TT$2.39 billion.

	 Dividends of TT$192.9 million were paid during the year 2019 to the Ministry of Finance as compared 
to the amount of TT$1.05 billion paid in 2018.

Directors’ Report
year ended 31 December 2019

The National Gas Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited
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	 The Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the year ended 
31 December 2019 is set out below:

		  Restated	
	 2019	   2018
	 $’000	 $’000

Sales	  13,609,390  	            16,004,936	
Cost of sales	 (12,606,721)  	 (12,563,642)

Gross profit	    1,002,669	 3,441,294		
Other income 	 636,823	 744,261
Interest and investment income	 654,842	 922,393
Administrative, maintenance & general expenses	 (899,885)	 (1,002,626)
Impairment (expense)/reversal	 (688,853)	 44,182
Finance costs	 (230,130)	  (202,949)
Share of loss from associate	 (4,513)	 (6,007)

Profit before taxation	 470,953	 3,940,548
Taxation	 (75,202)	 (1,544,662)

Profit for the year 	   395,751	 2,395,886

Other comprehensive income, net of taxes:

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Re-measurement of net defined benefit liability	 (28,957)	 (449)
Income tax relating to net defined benefit liability 	 10,135	 157
Net unrealised loss on equity instruments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income	 (332,742)	 (173,156)

Foreign currency translation differences	 234,151	 244,887

	 (117,413)	 71,439

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Net unrealised loss on fair value through other
comprehensive income    	 (65,602)	 (233,539)

Total other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax	 (183,015)	 (162,100)

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax	     212,736  	 2,233,786

2.	 FINANCIAL RESULTS (continued)

Directors’ Report (continued)

year ended 31 December 2019
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3.  	 DIRECTORS

	 The Board of Directors of NGC comprised the following members as between January 2019 and at 31 
December 2019:

•	 Professor Gerry C. Brooks (Chairman) – resigned with effect from 30 June 2019
•	 Mr. Samuel Martin (Deputy Chairman) – resigned with effect from 24 March 2019 
•	 Mr. Conrad Enill (Chairman) – appointed 19 July 2019
•	 Mr. Kenneth Allum – appointed 30 September 2015
•	 Mr. Marcus Ganness – appointed 30 September 2015
•	 Mr. Sean Balkissoon – appointed 28 January 2019
•	 Mr. Mark Loquan – appointed 5 July 2019
•	 Ms. Sandra Fraser – appointed 5 July 2019
•	 Mr. Dan Martineau – appointed 5 July 2019

	 The NGC Board held eleven (11) meetings for the period 1 January to 31 December 2019.

	 Also, the following Board Sub-Committees continued to assist in formulating and guiding the business 
and policies of the Company. 

(a)	 The Audit Committee comprised the following members as at 31 December 2019:

•	 Ms. Sandra Fraser – Chairman 
•	 Mr. Kenneth Allum 
•	 Mr. Lester Herbert (Representative from the Ministry of Finance)

	 The Audit Committee held six (6) meetings in 2019.

(b)  	 Finance and Investment Committee comprised the following members as at 31 December 2019:

•	 Professor Gerry C. Brooks – Chairman – resigned with effect from 30 June 2019
•	 Mr. Dan Martineau – Chairman
•	 Mr. Kenneth Allum 
•	 Mr. Marcus Ganness
•	 Mr. Sean Balkissoon

	 The Finance and Investment Committee held two (2) meetings in 2019.

 (c)  	 Tenders Committee comprised the following members as at 31 December 2019:

•	 Mr. Marcus Ganness – Chairman
•	 Mr. Kenneth Allum
•	 Mr. Sean Balkissoon 
•	 Mr. Dan Martineau

       	  The Tenders Committee held three (3) meetings in 2019.
           

Directors’ Report (continued)

year ended 31 December 2019
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3. 	 DIRECTORS (continued)

 (d) 	 Human Resources Committee comprised the following members as at 31 December 2019:

•	 Mr. Kenneth Allum – Chairman
•	 Mr. Sean Balkissoon
•	 Mr. Marcus Ganness
•	 Mr. Dan Martineau

	 There were no meetings of the Human Resources Committee in 2019.

 (e)   	 Operations Committee comprised the following members as at 31 December 2019:

•	 Mr. Sean Balkissoon – Chairman
•	 Mr. Kenneth Allum
•	 Mr. Marcus Ganness
•	 Mr. Dan Martineau

                 The Operations Committee held five (5) meetings in 2019.

4.	 AUDITORS

The Auditors, Deloitte & Touche, retired and being eligible, have expressed their willingness to be 
re-elected.

Dated this 06th day of October 2020.                            

By ORDER OF THE BOARD

 Venishea Paynter
 Company Secretary

Directors’ Report (continued)

year ended 31 December 2019
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Statement of Management’s 
Responsibilities

Management is responsible for the following:

•	 Preparing and fairly presenting the accompanying consolidated financial statements of The National 
Gas Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited, (‘the Company’) and its subsidiaries (together the 
‘Group’), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, 
the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity 
and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information;

•	 Ensuring that the Company keeps proper accounting records;
•	 Selecting appropriate accounting policies and applying them in a consistent manner;
•	 Implementing, monitoring and evaluating the system of internal control that assures security of the 

Company’s assets, detection/prevention of fraud, and the achievement of the Company’s operational 
efficiencies;

•	 Ensuring that the system of internal control operated effectively during the reporting period;
•	 Producing reliable financial reporting that comply with laws and regulations; and 
•	 Using reasonable and prudent judgement in the determination of estimates.

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management utilised the International Financial Reporting 
Standards, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and adopted by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Trinidad and Tobago.  Where International Financial Reporting Standards presented alternative 
accounting treatments, management chose those considered most appropriate in the circumstances.

Nothing has come to the attention of management to indicate that the Company will not remain a going 
concern for the next twelve months from the reporting date; or up to the date; the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements have been authorised for issue, if later.

Management affirms that it has carried out its responsibilities as outlined above.

Mark Loquan	 Narinejit Pariag
President	 Vice President, 
	 Finance, Technology and Risk 

31 July 2020	 31 July 2020
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Report on the audit of consolidated financial statements

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of The National Gas Company of Trinidad and Tobago 
Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of The National Gas Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited and its subsidiaries as at 31 
December 2019 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’).

Basis for opinion 	
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (‘ISAs’). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Unconsolidated 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (‘IESBA Code’), and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Information other than the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of this auditors’ 
report comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial 
statements and our auditors’ report thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information 
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditors’ 
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial 
statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, 
or has no realistic alternative but to do so. Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the 
Group’s financial reporting process.

Independent Auditors’ Report
to the shareholder of The National Gas Company of Trinidad and Tobago 
Limited and its subsidiaries
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Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this Independent Auditors’ report is Daryl Walcott-Grappie 
(ICATT#1248).

Deloitte & Touche
Trinidad
3 August 2020

Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)

to the shareholder of The National Gas Company of Trinidad and Tobago 
Limited and its subsidiaries

Report on the audit of consolidated financial statements (continued)
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			   Restated	 Restated
		  2019	 2018	 01-Jan-18
	 Notes	 $’000 	 $’000 	  $’000 
	 	
ASSETS

Non-current assets	 	 	 	

Property, plant and equipment	 5	  16,412,716 	 17,285,885 	 17,733,683 
Capital assets and licenses	 6	 1,046,376 	 1,694,547 	 1,326,333 
Investment properties	 7	 529,005 	 550,630 	 578,840 
Other intangible assets	 8	 21,702 	 16,953 	 949 
Right-of-use assets	 9	 141,641 	 -	 -
Goodwill	 10	 2,413,786 	 2,420,247 	 2,413,929 
Investment in associate	 11	 339,293 	 314,897 	 325,968 
Loans receivable	 12	 3,692,007	 3,644,417 	 323,706 
Other financial assets	 13	 3,791,616 	 3,962,609 	 4,392,993 
Net investment in leased assets 	 9	 224,635 	 209,121 	 394,983 
Deferred tax asset	 14	 1,135,836	 793,192 	 671,783 
Contract assets	 15	 -	 217 	 9,039 
Debt reserve funds	 16	 120,384 	 118,263 	 116,083 

Total non-current assets	 	    29,868,997 	 31,010,978 	 28,288,289 
	 	 	 	 	
	 	
Current assets					   
	 	
Cash and cash equivalents 	 17	 3,605,702	 6,837,681 	 6,434,290 
Short-term investments 	 18	 2,881,747	 1,426,841 	 437,227 
Loans receivable 	 12	 274,998	 -	 224,647 
Net investment in leased assets 	 9	 187,059 	 191,199 	 136,161 
Accounts receivable	 19	 2,189,909 	 1,519,087 	 6,408,385 
Sundry debtors and prepayments	 20	 892,547 	 982,874 	 695,972 
Inventories	 21	 401,945 	 307,808 	 306,356 
Contract assets	 15	 5,516 	 14,621 	 856,416 
Income taxes receivable	 	 566,788	 408,457 	 378,472 

Total current assets	 	      11,006,211 	 11,688,568 	 15,877,926 

Total assets		       40,875,208 	 42,699,546 	 44,166,215 

Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position
(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)
as at 31 December 2019
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			   Restated	 Restated
		  2019	 2018	 01-Jan-18
	 Notes	 $’000 	 $’000 	  $’000 
SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY & LIABILITIES 				  

Shareholder’s equity	 	 	 	

Share capital 	 22	 1,855,266 	 1,855,266 	 1,855,266 
Reserve fund 	 23	 438,192 	 438,192 	 438,192 
Other reserves	 24	 5,651,709	 6,224,495 	 6,713,350 
Retained earnings	 	 16,908,859	 16,704,169 	 15,437,974 

Total equity attributable to owners of the parent	 	 24,854,026	 25,222,122 	 24,444,782 
Non-controlling interest	 42	 2,622,827 	 2,820,156 	 2,826,052 

Total shareholder’s equity	 	      27,476,853 	 28,042,278 	 27,270,834 

Non-current liabilities	 	 	 	

Deferred tax liability	 14	 4,705,034 	 5,329,925 	 5,064,751 
Borrowings	 25	 2,309,451 	 2,514,475 	 2,700,355 
Contract liabilities	 26	 97,505 	 108,597 	 135,083 
Lease liability	 9	 132,093 	 -	 -
Provisions	 27	        2,231,109 	 2,044,093 	 1,958,191 
Post retirement, medical and group life
     obligation	 28	 189,999 	 153,875 	 148,334 
Pension obligation	 29	 106,637 	 55,729 	 88,268 

Total non-current liabilities	 	 9,771,828 	      10,206,694 	      10,094,982 

Current liabilities	 	 	 	

Trade payables	 30	 1,781,063 	 2,488,356 	 4,203,310 
Sundry payables and accruals	 31	 1,552,959 	 1,286,021 	 2,223,578 
Borrowings	 25	 199,424 	 193,990 	 188,885 
Contract liabilities	 26	 74,012 	 59,758 	 145,281 
Lease liability	 9	 12,397 	 -	 -
Dividends payable	 	 -	 4,238 	 5,072 
Income taxes payable	 	 6,672	 418,211 	 34,273 

Total current liabilities	 	        3,626,527 	 4,450,574 	 6,800,399 

Total liabilities	 	 13,398,355 	      14,657,268 	      16,895,381 

Total equity and liabilities		       40,875,208 	 42,699,546 	 44,166,215 

The accompanying notes on pages 34 to 126 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements of The National Gas Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited were 
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 July 2020.

	                                                         : Chairman	      : Director

Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position (continued)

(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)
as at 31 December 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit 
or Loss and Other Comprehensive 
Income

				    Restated
			   2019	 2018
		  Notes	 $’000 	  $’000 
	 	 	 	 	
	 	
Sales	 32	 13,609,390	 16,004,936
Cost of sales	 32	 (12,606,721)	 (12,563,642)

	 	 1,002,669 	 3,441,294 

Other income	 33	 636,823 	 744,261 
Interest and investment income	 34	 654,842	 922,393 
Administrative, maintenance & general expenses	 35	 (899,885)	 (1,002,626)
Impairment (expense)/reversal	 36	 (688,853)	 44,182 
Finance costs	 37	 (230,130)	 (202,949)
Share of loss from associate	 38	 (4,513)	 (6,007)

Profit before taxation	 	 470,953	 3,940,548 

Taxation	 39	 (75,202)	 (1,544,662)

Profit for the year		  395,751 	        2,395,886

	 	 	 	
Other comprehensive income, net of taxes:				  
	
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss	 	 	 	
	
Re-measurement of net defined benefit liability	 	 (28,957)	 (449)
Income tax relating to net defined benefit liability 	 	 10,135	 157 
Net unrealised loss on equity instruments designated 
    at fair value through other comprehensive income	 	 (332,742)	 (173,156)
Foreign currency translation differences	 	 234,151	 244,887

	 	 (117,413)	 71,439

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss	 	 	 	
	
Net unrealised loss on fair value through other 
     comprehensive income 	 	 (65,602)	 (233,539)

Total other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax	 	         (183,015)         	 (162,100)

Total comprehensive income for the year		  212,736	       2,233,786

The accompanying notes on pages 34 to 125 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

for the year ended 31 December 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit 
or Loss and Other Comprehensive 
Income (continued)

Profit for the year after tax attributable to:	 	 	 	
	
- Owners of the parent	 	 332,033 	 2,128,292 
- Non-controlling interests	 	 63,718 	 267,594 

	 	 395,751	 2,395,886 
	 	 	 	
Total comprehensive income for the year, 			 
net of tax attributable to:	 	 	 	
	
- Owners of the parent	 	 151,891	 1,964,064 
- Non-controlling interests	 	 60,845 	 269,722 

		  212,736	 2,233,786 

				    Restated
			   2019	 2018
		  Notes	 $’000 	  $’000

The accompanying notes on pages 34 to 125 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)
for the year ended 31 December 2019
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Changes in Equity 
(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)
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			   2019	 2018
		  Notes	 $’000 	  $’000 
Cash flows from operating activities	 	 	 	
	
Cash generated from operations	 	 40	        722,262 	 4,010,940 
Pension and other post-retirement contributions paid	 	 (25,372)	 (49,764)
Income taxes paid	 	  	  (1,567,863)	 (1,158,107)
Interest paid	 	 	 (190,787)	 (184,474)
Interest received	 	 	 102,720 	 423,194 

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities	 	 (959,040)	 3,041,789 

Cash flows from investing activities	 	 	

Purchase of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets	 	  (239,018)	 (585,970)
Purchase of capital assets and licences	 	  	 (74,018)	  (87,365)
Purchase of investment property	 	  	 (9,843)	  (2,624)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment	 	 21 	 1,735 
Increase in short-term investments	 	  	 (4,499,323)	 (1,977,553)
Proceeds from sale/redemption of investments	 	 	 70,546 	 28,155 
Maturity of short-term deposits	 	 	 3,042,584 	 991,470 
Repayment of loans receivable	 	 	 67,546 	 257,306 
Dividends received	 	 	 62,547	 206,160 

Net cash used in investing activities	 	 	 (1,578,958)	 (1,168,686)

Cash flow from financing activities	 	 	

Repayment of borrowings	 	  	 (193,269)	  (188,715)
Lease payments	 	  	 (28,756)	 -
Dividends paid	 	  	 (446,415)	 (1,291,740)

Net cash used in financing activities	 	  	 (668,440)	 (1,480,455)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents	 	  (3,206,438)	 392,648 

Net foreign exchange difference on cash balances	 	       (25,541)	 10,743 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year	 	    6,837,681 	 6,434,290 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year	 	 17	    3,605,702 	 6,837,681 

Consolidated Statement of 
Cash Flows
(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)
for the year ended 31 December 2019

The accompanying notes on pages 34 to 125 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements

1.	 Corporate information

	 The National Gas Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited (the ‘Company’ or ‘NGC’) and subsidiaries 
(together the ‘Group’) is involved in all stages of the gas value chain.  The Group holds investments in the 
upstream, midstream and downstream sector and also owns port and industrial estates to support the 
petrochemical sector and industrial development. The National Gas Company of Trinidad and Tobago 
Limited is wholly owned by the Government of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago (the ‘GORTT’). 
The Company’s registered office is located at Orinoco Drive, Point Lisas Industrial Estate, Point Lisas, 
Trinidad. 

2.	 Significant accounting policies

2.1	 Statement of compliance 

	 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(‘IASB’).

2.2	 Basis of preparation

	 These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis, 
except for offshore plant and equipment, pipelines and related facilities which have been revalued 
and financial assets which are measured at fair value.

	 Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for 
goods and services.

	 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether 
that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the 
fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or 
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset 
or liability at the measurement date. 

	 In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and 
the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as 
follows: 

•	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

•	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.



Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements (continued) 
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
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2.3	 Basis of consolidation

1)	 Subsidiaries

	 A subsidiary Company is an entity controlled by the Group.  Control is achieved when the 
Group: 

(i)	 has power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to 
direct the relevant activities of the investee);

(ii)	 is exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
(iii)	 has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

	 When the Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the 
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over 
an investee, including:

•	 The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
•	 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 
•	 The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

	 The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances 
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control as stated 
above.   Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the 
subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the 
date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the 
subsidiary. 

	 Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (‘OCI’) are attributed to 
the equity holders of the Company and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in 
the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance. The financial statements of subsidiaries 
are prepared for the same reporting period as the Parent, using consistent accounting 
policies. 

	 Non-controlling interests (‘NCI’) are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition.

	 A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for 
as an equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it: 

•	 derecognises the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of 
the subsidiary;

•	 derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests;
•	 recognises the fair value of any investment retained;
•	 reclassifies to profit or loss or to retained earnings, as appropriate, the amounts 

recognised in OCI as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the 
related assets or liabilities; and 

•	 recognises any resulting difference as a gain or loss in the profit or loss attributable 
to the Parent.

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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	 Non-controlling interests represents the interests not held by the Group in Phoenix Park 
Gas Processors Limited (‘PPGPL’), NGC NGL Company Limited (‘NGC NGL’), Trinidad and 
Tobago NGL Limited (‘TTNGL’), NGC Trinidad and Tobago LNG Company (‘NGC LNG’) and 
La Brea Industrial Development Company Limited (‘LABIDCO’).

2)	 Transactions eliminated on consolidation

	 All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

2.4	 Business combinations and goodwill

	 Business combination are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition 
is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date 
fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business 
combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value 
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.  Acquisition costs incurred 
are expensed and included in administrative expenses. 

	 When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of 
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

	 If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date 
through profit or loss. 

	 Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at 
the acquisition date. If an obligation to pay contingent consideration that meets the definition of a 
financial instrument is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured, and settlement is accounted 
for within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is remeasured at fair value at each 
reporting date and subsequent changes in fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised 
in profit or loss.

	 Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is in 
excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group reassesses whether it has correctly 
identified all of the assets acquired and all the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used 
to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If this consideration is lower 
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in profit 
or loss. 

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
2.3	 Basis of consolidation (continued)

1)	 Subsidiaries (continued)
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	 After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to 
benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are 
assigned to those units. 

	 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that goodwill maybe 
impaired. If any such indication exists, or when impairment testing for an asset is required, the 
Group makes an estimate of the assets recoverable amount. The Group assesses at each reporting 
date whether there is an indication that goodwill maybe impaired. If any such indication exists, 
or when impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the assets 
recoverable amount.

	 Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is 
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying 
amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation.  Goodwill 
disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation 
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

2.5	 Investment in associates and joint ventures

	 An associate is an entity over which the Company has significant influence. Significant influence 
is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not 
control or joint control over those policies.

	 A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement, 
have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed 
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities 
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. 

	 The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in these 
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the 
investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for 
in accordance with IFRS 5 ‘Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations’. 
Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised 
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise 
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or 
joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the 
Company’s interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, 
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group 
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the 
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf 
of the associate or joint venture.

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
2.4	 Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
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	 An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from 
the date on which the investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the 
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over 
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee 
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any 
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the 
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period 
in which the investment is acquired.

	 After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise 
an impairment loss on its investment in its associate or joint venture. At each reporting date, the 
Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate or joint 
venture is impaired. 

	 If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference 
between the recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture and its carrying value, and then 
recognises the loss within ‘Share of profit of an associate and a joint venture’ in the statement of 
profit or loss. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the 
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

	 Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the 
Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. 

	 Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant 
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal 
is recognised in profit or loss. 

	 The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes 
an investment in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an 
associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

	 The Group applies IFRS 9, including the impairment requirements, to long-term interests in an 
associate or joint venture to which the equity method is not applied and which form part of the net 
investment in the investee.

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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2.6	 Interest in joint operations

	 A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement 
have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. Joint 
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when 
decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

	 When an entity undertakes its activities under joint operations, the Group as a joint operator 
recognises in relation to its interest in a joint operation:

•	 its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; 
•	 its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; 
•	 its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation; 
•	 its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and 
•	 its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

	 The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its interest in a 
joint operation in accordance with the IFRS applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues 
and expenses. 

2.7	 Non-current assets held for sale

	 Non-current assets or disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount 
will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and 
are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. This condition 
is regarded as met only when the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its 
present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such asset (or 
disposal group) and its sale is highly probable. 

	 Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition 
as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

	 When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the 
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria described 
above are met, regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in its former 
subsidiary after the sale.

	 When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving disposal of an investment, or a portion of an 
investment, in an associate or joint venture, the investment or the portion of the investment that 
will be disposed of is classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met, and the 
Group discontinues the use of the equity method in relation to the portion that is classified as held 
for sale. 

	 Any retained portion of an investment in an associate or a joint venture that has not been classified 
as held for sale continues to be accounted for using the equity method. 

	 The Group discontinues the use of the equity method at the time of disposal when the disposal 
results in the Group losing significant influence over the associate or joint venture.

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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	 Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of 
their previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

2.8	 Foreign currencies

	 The functional currency of the Group is the United States dollar (‘US$’) because the US$ is the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates. The Group statutory 
consolidated financial statements are required to be presented in Trinidad and Tobago dollars 
(‘TT$’), therefore the presentation currency is the TT$. All statement of financial position amounts 
have been translated using exchange rates in effect at the reporting date and statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income amounts have been translated using average exchange 
rates for the year. The closing rate at the reporting date was TT$6.7624 to US$1 (2018: TT$6.7805 
to US$1) and the average exchange rate was TT$6.7553 to US$1 (2018: TT$6.7567 to US$1). 
Gains and losses resulting from this process have been recorded in translation reserve as a 
separate component of equity.

	 Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency rate ruling at 
the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Resulting 
exchange differences are recognised in income/expense for the year. Non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate 
as at the dates of the initial transactions.

2.9	 Property, plant and equipment

	 Pipelines and related facilities are stated at their revalued amounts, less any subsequent 
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Generally, valuations 
are performed every five to seven years unless there is an indication that the fair value of a revalued 
asset differs materially from its carrying amount.

	 The last valuation of the pipelines and related facilities was conducted on 31 December 2016. 

	 Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such pipelines and related facilities is 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, except to the extent that it 
reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in which 
case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously expensed. A 
decrease in the carrying amount arising on the revaluation of such pipelines and related facilities is 
recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the revaluation 
reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset.

	 Assets in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are carried 
at cost, less recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying assets, 
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s policy. Such assets are classified to 
the appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and intended for 
use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other assets, commences when the 
assets are ready for their intended use.

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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	 Depreciation on revalued pipelines and related facilities is recognised in profit or loss. An annual 
transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to retained earnings is made for the difference between 
depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of the assets and depreciation based on the 
assets original cost. Additionally, accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated 
against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued 
amount of the asset. Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset being 
sold is transferred to retained earnings. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued asset, 
the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the revaluation reserve is transferred directly to 
retained earnings.

	 Freehold land is not depreciated.

	 All other gas assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

	 Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their residual 
values over their useful lives. The estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a 
prospective basis.

	 All property, plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method at the following 
rates.

	 	 Machinery and equipment 	 - 5%	 - 20%
	 	 Marine infrastructural assets	 - 3%	 - 20%
	 	 Pipelines and related facilities	 - 1.67%	 - 20%
	 	 Other assets	 - 10%	 - 50%

	 Gas plant and other related projects are depreciated over the period of the Gas Processing 
Agreement (‘GPA’).  

	 The expected life of the gas plant and other related projects was re-assessed in 2009 upon renewal 
of the GPA with the Parent to coincide with the 20 year period of the Agreement. The carrying 
value of these assets as at that date is being depreciated at 5% per annum.

	 Development costs are recognised as an asset to the extent that it is expected to generate future 
economic benefits.

	 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss 
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as 
a difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised 
in profit or loss.  

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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	 Oil and gas exploration, development and production assets

	 Property, plant and equipment includes capitalised costs related to exploration and evaluation 
expenditures, assets under construction and development. The Group capitalises the initial 
acquisition costs of oil and gas properties. Impairment of initial acquisition costs is recognised 
based on exploratory experience and management judgement and charged to profit and loss as 
exploration expenses. Upon discovery of commercial reserves, acquisition costs are transferred 
to proved properties. The costs of drilling and equipping successful exploratory wells, all 
development expenditures on construction, installation or completion of infrastructure facilities 
such as platforms, pipelines, processing plants and the drilling of development wells and the 
building of enhanced recovery facilities, including those renewals and betterments that extend the 
economic lives of the assets are capitalised. The costs of unsuccessful exploratory wells and all 
other exploration costs are expensed as incurred.

	 The Group carries exploratory well costs as an asset when the well has found a sufficient 
quantity of reserves to justify its completion as a producing well and where the Group is making 
sufficient progress assessing the reserves and the economic and operating viability of the project. 
Exploratory well costs not meeting these criteria are charged to expenses. Exploratory wells that 
discover potentially economic reserves in areas where major capital expenditure will be required 
before production would begin and when the major capital expenditure depends upon the 
successful completion of further exploratory work remain capitalised and are reviewed periodically 
for impairment.

	 Producing oil and gas properties are depreciated on a unit of production basis. Drilling related 
assets are depreciated based over the proved developed reserves. Common facilities that are 
built specifically to service production directly attributed to designated oil and gas properties are 
depreciated over the total proved developed reserves of the respective oil and gas properties. 
Costs associated with significant development projects are not depreciated until commercial 
production commences and the reserves related to those costs are excluded from the calculation 
of depreciation. 

	 Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is 
required (other than inventories and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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2.10	 Intangible assets

a)	 Intangible assets acquired separately

	 Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised 
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and 
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of 
any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets 
with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses.

b)	 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

	 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from 
goodwill are initially recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded 
as their cost). 

	 Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are 
reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the 
same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

c)	 Derecognition of intangible assets 

	 An intangible asset is derecognised when no future economic benefits are expected from use 
or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured 
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, 
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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2.11	 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

	 At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and 
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an 
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in 
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate 
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis 
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating 
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a 
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

	 Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are 
tested for impairment at least annually and whenever there is an indication at the end of a reporting 
period that the asset may be impaired.

	 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

	 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the 
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation decrease.

	 When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, so that the increased 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of 
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried 
at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation 
increase.

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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2.12	 Investment properties

	 Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including 
property under construction for such purposes). Investment properties are measured initially at 
cost, including transaction costs and subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
less impairment. Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis over the estimated economic 
useful lives of the assets at the following rates:

	 	 Fabrication yard	 3.33%
	 	 Development cost	 3.33% - 33.33%
	 	 Buildings	 3.33%

	 No depreciation is provided on freehold land.

	 An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. 
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the 
period in which the property is derecognised. 

2.13	 Taxation

	 Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

a)	 Current tax

	 Current income tax asset and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the 
amount expected to be recoverable from or paid to the taxation authority. The tax rates and 
tax laws used in computing the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted 
at the reporting date.

b)	 Deferred tax

	 Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on all temporary differences at 
the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amount 
for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
measured at the tax rate that is expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or 
the liability is settled based on the enacted tax rate at the reporting date.

	 The carrying amount of deferred income tax is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow 
all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.  Unrecognised to the extent that it 
has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax to be recoverable.

	 Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items 
that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the 
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity respectively.  Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting 
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business 
combination.

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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2.14	 Leases

	 A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the 
underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration’.

	 The Group has applied IFRS 16 Leases, using the modified retrospective transition approach from 
1 January 2019, but has not restated comparatives for the 2018 reporting period, as permitted 
under the specific transition provisions in the standard. Differences arising from the adoption of 
IFRS 16 have been recognised directly in retained earnings.

a)	 The Group as a lessee

	 For any new contracts entered on or after 1 January 2019, the Group considers whether a 
contract is, or contains a lease at inception. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a 
contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration’.

	 To apply this definition the Group assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations 
which are whether:

•	 the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the 
contract or implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is made 
available to the Group;

•	 the Group has the right to obtain substantially all the economic benefits from use 
of the identified asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the 
defined scope of the contract;

•	 the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period 
of use.

	 The Group assess whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is 
used throughout the period of use.

	 Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

	 At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability 
on the statement of financial position. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is 
made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by 
the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the 
lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of 
any incentives received).

	 The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the 
end of the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment when 
such indicators exist.

	 At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of 
the lease payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the 
lease if that rate is readily available or the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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	 Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and 
increased for interest. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there 
are changes in in-substance fixed payments.

	 When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-
of-use asset, or profit or loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero.

	 The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using 
the practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the 
payments in relation to these are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.

b)	 The Group as a lessor

	 As a lessor the Group classifies its leases as either operating or finance leases. A lease is 
classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the underlying asset and classified as an operating lease if it does not.

	 Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount 
of the Group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting 
periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment 
outstanding in respect of the leases.

	 Leases in which a significant portion of the risk and rewards of ownership are retained by 
the lessor are defined as an operating lease.  Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and 
arranging an operating lease are added to carrying amount of the leased asset. Payments 
made under an operating lease are charged to the statement of profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the period of the lease term.

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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2.15	 Financial instruments

	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Company statement of financial 
position when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities, other 
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial 
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

a)	 Financial assets

	 Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging instruments, are 
classified and subsequently measured based on the following categories:

1)	 Financial assets at amortised cost;
2)	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL’);
3)	 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVTOCI’).

	 The classification is determined by both:

•	 the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset; and
•	 the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

	 All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss 
are presented within finance costs, finance income or other financial items, except for 
impairment of trade receivables which is presented under impairment.

	 The Group’s business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting 
contractual cash flows, selling financial assets or both. At initial recognition of financial 
assets, the Group determines whether newly recognised financial assets are part of an 
existing business model or whether they reflect the commencement of a new business 
model.  The Group reassess its business model each reporting period to determine whether 
the business model has changed since the preceding period.

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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1)	 Financial assets at amortised cost

	 Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following 
conditions (and are not designated as FVTPL):

•	 they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial 
assets and collect its contractual cash flows; and

•	 the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest (‘SPPI’) on the principal amount 
outstanding.

	 This category includes non-derivative financial assets like loans and receivables with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. After initial 
recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  
Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s 
cash and cash equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall into this category of 
financial instruments.

2)	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL’)

	 Financial assets at FVPTL are:

•	 financial assets whose contractual cash flows are not SPPI;
•	 financial assets that are held in a business model other than held to collect 

contractual cash flows or held to collect and sell; and
•	 financial assets designated at FVPTL using the fair value option.

	 This category includes derivative instruments. 

	 These assets are measured at fair value with gains or losses, including any interest 
or dividend income recognised in profit or loss.  The fair values of financial assets in 
this category are determined by reference to active market transactions or using a 
valuation technique where no active market exists.

3)	 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVTOCI’)

	 The Group accounts for financial assets at FVTOCI if the assets meet the following 
conditions:

•	 they are held under a business model whose objective is both to hold and 
collect the associated cash flows and to sell the financial assets; and

•	 the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding 
(‘SPPI’).

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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	 Reclassification

	 If the business model under which the Group holds financial assets changes, the 
financial assets affected are reclassified. The classification and measurement 
requirements related to the new category apply prospectively from the first day of the 
first reporting period following the change in business model that result in reclassifying 
the Group’s financial assets.

 b)	 Financial liabilities 

	 Financial liabilities and equity instruments

	 Debt and equity instruments issued by a Group entity are classified as either financial 
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and 
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. 

	 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an 
entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a Group entity are 
recognised as the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 

	 Repurchase of the Group’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly 
in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or 
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

	 Other financial liabilities

	 Other financial liabilities including long term debt, dividends payable, trade and sundry 
payables and accruals are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method or at FVTPL.  Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include 
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition 
as at fair value through profit or loss.  

	 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and 
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction 
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or 
(where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

	 Derecognition of other financial liabilities

	 The Goup derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations 
are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the 
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit 
or loss.

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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c)	 Impairment of financial assets 

	 The Group applies the forward-looking expected credit loss (‘ECL’) approach to assess 
whether a financial asset or group of financial assets may be impaired.

	 The Group considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and 
measuring expected credit losses, including past events, current conditions, reasonable and 
supportable forecasts that affect the expected collectability of the future cash flows of the 
instrument.

	 In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between:

•	 financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since 
initial recognition or that have low credit risk (‘Stage 1’) for which a 12-month ECL is 
recognised;

•	 financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial 
recognition and whose credit risk is not low (‘Stage 2’) for which ‘lifetime expected 
credit losses’ are recognised;

•	 (‘Stage 3’) would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at 
the reporting date. 

	 A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Credit-impaired 
financial assets are referred to as Stage 3 assets. 

	 Trade and other receivables and contract assets

	 The Group makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade receivables as well 
as contract assets. Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but records 
the loss allowance based on lifetime expected credit losses at each reporting date. The 
Group uses its historical experience, external indicators and forward-looking information to 
calculate the expected credit losses using a provision matrix.

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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	 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVTOCI’)

	 For debt instruments at FVTOCI, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification and 
recognises a 12-month expected credit losses, as most of these instruments have an 
investment grade credit rating, the likelihood of default is deemed to be small. However, 
at each reporting date the Group assesses whether it still qualifies for the low credit risk 
classification. For any that no longer qualify, the Group assesses whether there has been a 
significant increase in the credit risk of the instrument.

	 In assessing these risks, the Group relies on readily available information such as the credit 
ratings issued by the major credit rating agencies for the respective asset. The Group only 
holds simple financial instruments for which specific credit ratings are usually available. In 
the unlikely event that there is no or only little information on factors influencing the ratings of 
the asset available, the Group would aggregate similar instruments into a portfolio to assess 
on this basis whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

	 In addition, the Group considers other indicators such as adverse changes in business, 
economic or financial conditions that could affect the borrower’s ability to meet its debt 
obligation or unexpected changes in the borrower’s operating results.

	 Should any of these indicators imply a significant increase in the instrument’s credit risk, the 
Group recognises for this instrument or class of instruments the lifetime ECL.

d)	 Derecognition of financial assets

	 Financial assets

	 The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity or when there has been a substantial 
decrease in valuation due to modification. 

	 On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is 
recognised in profit or loss. On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified 
as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments 
revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. In contrast, on derecognition of an 
investment in equity instrument which the group has elected on initial recognition to measure 
at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation 
reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss but is transferred to retained earnings.

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
2.15	 Financial instruments (continued)

c)	 Impairment of financial assets (continued)
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2.16	 Take-or-pay

	 The Group has take-or-pay contracts with various upstream producers. A contract liability is 
recognised in the year in which the Group has to pay for volumes contractually committed to but 
not yet taken. The expenditure is recognised on the earlier of when the gas volumes are actually 
taken or on expiration of the deficiency recovery period. If management determines that they 
will not be able to take the volumes before the expiration of the deficiency recovery period, the 
amount is immediately recognised as an expense within cost of sales.

	 The Group also has take-or-pay contracts with its major customers. Contract asset is recorded in 
the year in which the customers have to pay for volumes contractually committed to but not yet 
taken. The revenue is recognised at the earlier of the expiration of the customer’s deficiency period 
and when the volumes are taken.

2.17	 Inventories

	 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the 
estimate of the selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion 
and selling expenses.  A provision is made for all slow moving and obsolete items.

a)	 Liquefied natural gas (‘LNG’)
	 The valuation of inventory includes cost of gas, processing fee and transportation cost.

b)	 Natural gas liquids (‘NGLs’)
	 The value of NGLs includes a proportion of plant overheads.  This is determined by using 

the first-in-first-out principle.

c)	 Spares
	 Plant spares is determined using the weighted average cost of items held in inventory.

d)	 Crude oil
	 Inventories are measured using the weighted average cost basis (the Group’s monthly 

entitlement expenses divided by the barrels of oil allocated to the Group).

2.18	 Cash and cash equivalents

	 Cash on hand, in banks and short-term deposits that are held to maturity are carried at amortised 
cost and are subject to insignificant risk and change in value.

	 For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist 
of cash on hand and deposits in banks and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three 
months or less.

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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2.19	 Provisions

	 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

	 The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risk and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle 
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the 
effect of the time value of money is material). 

	 Present values are determined using a current pre-tax rate that reflects where appropriate the risks 
specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage 
in time is recognised as a finance expense.

	 The Group has recorded provisions for decommissioning of offshore plants, equipment, claims and 
purchase of right of way lands. The related fixed assets are increased in an amount equivalent to 
the provision and subsequently depreciated as part of the capital costs of the plant and equipment. 
Any change in the present value of the estimated expenditure is reflected as an adjustment to the 
provision and the fixed asset unless related to the time value of money. However, the ultimate 
amount and timing of the cost may vary from the original estimate. The unwinding of the discount 
on the provision is included in finance costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

2.20	 Pension and other post-employment benefits

a)	 Pension benefits

	 The employees of The National Gas Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited (‘NGC’), 
National Energy Corporation of Trinidad and Tobago Limited (‘National Energy’) and NGC 
CNG Company Limited (‘NGC CNG’) had a final salary defined benefit pension plan which 
was wound up effective 31 December 2018 and a new Career Average Defined Benefit plan 
with an effective date of 1 January 2019 is being established.  

	 In the new Career Average Defined Benefit plan, the pension will be calculated based on the 
employees’ average salary from the effective date of 1 January 2019 until retirement date. 
The employee’s pension at retirement will be the sum of the pension accrued under the final 
salary Defined Benefit Plan at 31 December 2018 and the pension accrued under the Career 
Average Define Benefit plan from 1 January 2019 to retirement.

	 For defined benefit plans, the pension costs are assessed using the projected unit credit 
method.  Under this method the costs of providing pensions are calculated based on the 
advice of independent actuaries who also carry out a full calculation of the plan every three 
years.  The pension obligation is measured at the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows using interest rates of long-term government securities.

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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	 Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the changes to the 
asset ceiling (if applicable) and the return on plan assets (excluding interest), is reflected 
immediately in the statement of financial position with a charge or credit recognised in other 
comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement recognised in 
other comprehensive income is reflected immediately in retained earnings and will not be 
reclassified to profit or loss. Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

•	 service cost (including current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and 
losses on curtailments and settlements);

•	 net interest expense or income; and 
•	 remeasurement.

	 The Company presents the first two components of defined benefit costs in profit or loss 
in the line item ‘administrative, maintenance and general expenses’. Curtailment gains and 
losses are accounted for as past service costs. Net interest is calculated by applying the 
discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset.

	 The Group also provides post-retirement life and medical benefits to their retirees.   The 
expected costs of these benefits are measured in a manner similar to that for the defined 
benefit plan.   Valuation of these obligations are carried out by independent professional 
actuaries using an accounting methodology similar to that of the defined benefit pension 
plans.

b)	 Defined contribution plan

	 The employees of Phoenix Park Gas Processors Limited (‘PPGPL’), are under a defined 
contribution plan which came in effect from 1 January 2003.  A defined contribution plan is a 
post-employment plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity 
and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay future amounts.

	 The plan covers all full-time employees of PPGPL and is funded by payments from 
employees and employer taking into account the recommendations of independent qualified 
actuaries.  PPGPL’s contributions to the defined contribution plan are charged to profit or 
loss in the period to which the contributions relate.   At the end of 2019, there was no liability 
outstanding.

2.21	 Non-refundable capital contribution

	 The Group recognises a non-refundable capital contribution (‘NRCC’) when payment is received 
from industrial users as part of a condition of their connection to the pipeline network which 
provides them with continuous access to a supply of gas for use in their respective industries.

	 The contribution is recorded as contract liabilities in the statement of financial position with income 
recognised and the liabilities reduced on a straight-line basis over the life of the customers’ sales 
contract. 

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
2.20	 Pension and other post-employment benefits (continued)

a)	 Pension benefits (continued)
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2.22	 Borrowing costs

	 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their 
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are 
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

	 Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their 
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

	 All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

2.23	 Government grants

	 Government grants are recognised only when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will 
comply with any terms and conditions attached to the grants and the grants will be received.

	 Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in 
which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to 
compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should 
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred revenue 
in the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic 
and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

2.24	 Revenue and other income recognition

	 Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services 
are transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

	 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable. 

	 The Group considers whether there are other conditions in the contract that are separate 
performance obligations to which a portion of the transaction price needs to be allocated. In 
determining the transaction price, the Group considers the effects of variable consideration, 
the existence of significant financing components, non-cash consideration, and consideration 
payable to the customer (if any).

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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	 The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

	 Revenue from contracts with customers

•	 Revenues associated with the sale of gas, oil, natural gas liquids and condensate are 
recognised when title and the related rights pass to the customer being at the point of 
delivery. 

•	 Revenue associated with services and marine infrastructure income is recognised upon 
performance of the services over time.

•	 Lease rental and service charge from operating leases on investment properties are 
recognised as revenue over time in the period in which they are earned. Premiums on leases 
are recognised as revenue at the point of execution of the lease in the initial year.

	 Other operating income

•	 Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive 
payment has been established.

•	 Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic 
benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably and 
is accrued on a time basis by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective 
interest rate applicable. 

•	 Management fees earned on government funded projects are recognised over time  as the 
management service is provided.

•	 Lease rental and service at the point of initial year of execution of the lease.

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
2.24	 Revenue and other income recognition (continued)
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2.25	 Restatement

	 The Group has restated its consolidated financial statements as at 1 January 2018 and 31 December 
2018 to account for the following:

a)	 Understatement of impairment of capital assets and licenses
b)	 Unrecorded liabilities associated with claims made by customers and purchase of right of 

way lands

	 Set out below are the impact on the consolidated financial statements as follows:

	 Balance before		  Restated
	  restatement	 Adjustments	 balance
	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

As at 31 December 2018	 	 	

Property, plant and equipment	 17,010,093 	         275,792 	    17,285,885
Capital assets and licenses	 2,641,710 	 (947,163)	 1,694,547 
Deferred tax liability	 (5,906,628)	 576,703 	 (5,329,925)
Provisions	 (1,031,963)	    (1,012,130)	 (2,044,093)
Other reserves	 (6,229,465)	 4,970 	 (6,224,495)
Retained earnings	 (17,805,997)	 1,101,828 	 (16,704,169)
	 	 	
As at 1 January 2018			 

Property, plant and equipment	 17,458,611 	         275,072 	    17,733,683 
Capital assets and licenses	 2,301,979 	  (975,646)	 1,326,333 
Deferred tax liability	 (5,601,356)	 536,605 	 (5,064,751)
Provisions	 (948,704)	    (1,009,487)	 (1,958,191)
Other reserves	 (5,382,847)	 (1,330,503)	 (6,713,350)
Retained earnings	 (16,550,972)	 1,112,998 	 (15,437,974)

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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	 The table below summarises the effect of the restatement to the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2018:

	 Balance before		  Restated 
	 restatement	 Adjustments	 balance
	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	
	
Year ended 31 December 2018	 	 	

Cost of sales (Depreciation)	 (12,665,030)	 101,388 	 (12,563,642)
Impairment reversal/(expense)	 116,830 	 (72,648)	 44,182 

Profit for the year before taxation	 3,911,808	 28,740 	 3,940,548 
	 	 	 	
	
Taxation	 (1,584,619)	 39,957 	 (1,544,662)

  Profit for the year after taxation	 2,327,189 	 68,697 	 2,395,886 

2.	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
2.25	 Restatement (continued)
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3.	 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) 

3.1	 New IFRS and amendments to IFRS that are mandatorily effective for the current year

	 In the current year, the Group has applied a number of amendments to IFRS and new Interpretations 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’) that are mandatorily effective for 
an accounting period that begins on or after 1 January 2019. 

	 IFRS 16 Leases

	 In the current year, the Group has applied IFRS 16 (as issued by the IASB in January 2016) that is 
effective for annual periods that begin on or after 1 January 2019. 

IFRS 16 introduces new or amended requirements with respect to lease accounting. It introduces 
significant changes to lessee accounting by removing the distinction between operating and finance 
lease and requiring the recognition of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at commencement 
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets. In contrast to lessee 
accounting, the requirements for lessor accounting have remained largely unchanged. 

The date of initial application of IFRS 16 for the Group is 1 January 2019. 

The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective transitional approach, with 
adjustment reflected in statement of changes in equity.  

a)	 Impact of the new definition of a lease 

	 The Group has made use of the practical expedient available on transition to IFRS 16 not to 
reassess whether a contract is or contains a lease. Accordingly, the definition of a lease in 
accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 will continue to be applied to those contracts entered 
or modified before 1 January 2019. 

	 The change in definition of a lease mainly relates to the concept of control. IFRS 16 determines 
whether a contract contains a lease on the basis of whether the customer has the right to 
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. This 
is in contrast to the focus on ‘risks and rewards’ in IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.

	 The Group applied the definition of a lease and related guidance set out in IFRS 16 to all 
contracts entered into or changed on or after 1 January 2019. The Group has carried out an 
implementation project for the first-time application of IFRS 16. The project has shown that 
the new definition in IFRS 16 did not significantly change the scope of contracts that meet 
the definition of a lease for the Group.
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b)	 Impact on lessee accounting 

(i)	 Former operating leases 

	 IFRS 16 changes how the Group accounts for leases previously classified as operating 
leases under IAS 17, which were off balance sheet.  

	 Applying IFRS 16, for all leases, the Group: 

(a)	 Recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the statement of financial 
position, initially measured at the present value of the future lease payments;  

(b)	 Recognises depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest on lease liabilities 
in profit or loss; 

(c)	 Separates the total amount of cash paid into a principal portion and interest 
(presented within financing activities) in the statement of cash flows.  

(ii)	 Former finance leases  

	 The main differences between IFRS 16 and IAS 17 with respect to contracts formerly 
classified as finance leases is the measurement of the residual value guarantees 
provided by the lessee to the lessor. IFRS 16 requires that the Group recognises as 
part of its lease liability only the amount expected to be payable under a residual value 
guarantee, rather than the maximum amount guaranteed as required by IAS 17. This 
change did not have a material effect on the Group’s financial statements as there was 
no lease classified as a finance lease under IAS 17.  

	 IFRS 16 does not change substantially how a lessor accounts for leases. Under IFRS 
16, a lessor continues to classify leases as either finance leases or operating leases 
and account for those two types of leases differently. 

	 However, IFRS 16 has changed and expanded the disclosures required, in particular 
with regard to how a lessor manages the risks arising from its residual interest in leased 
assets. 

	 Under IFRS 16, an intermediate lessor accounts for the head lease and the sub-lease 
as two separate contracts. The intermediate lessor is required to classify the sub-lease 
as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the 
head lease (and not by reference to the underlying asset as was the case under IAS 
17).  

	 This change did not have a material effect on the Group’s financial statements. 

3.	 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) (continued)
3.1	 New IFRS and amendments to IFRS that are mandatorily effective for the current year 

(continued)
	 IFRS 16 Leases (continued)
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c)	 Financial impact of the initial application of IFRS 16

	 As at 1 January 2019, a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability of TT$152.9 
million was recognised for leases in existence as at 31 December 2018. 

Impact on profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2019 
	 	 $’000
Increase in depreciation of right-of-use assets	 24,455
Increase in finance costs	 10,028

Decrease in profit for the year	 34,483

Impact on assets, liabilities and equity for the year ended 31 December 2019
	 	 $’000
Right-of-use asset	 141,641

Net impact on total assets	 141,641

Lease liabilities	 144,490

Net impact on total liabilities	 144,490

Retained earnings	 (2,849)

	 IFRIC interpretation 23 uncertainty over income tax treatment

	 The Interpretation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments involve 
uncertainty that affects the application of IAS 12 Income Taxes. It specifically addresses the 
following: 

	 Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately.

-	 The assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation 
authorities 

-	 How an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused 
tax credits and tax rates 

-	 How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances 

	 An entity has to determine and follow the approach that best predicts the resolution of the 
uncertainty by the Tax authorities.

	 Upon adoption of the Interpretation, the Group considered whether it has any uncertain tax 
positions, and determined, based on its tax compliance, that it is probable that its tax treatments 
(including those for the subsidiaries) will be accepted by the taxation authorities. Management 
made a provision for expected value of tax treatments by the Tax Appeal Board.

3.	 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) (continued)
3.1	 New IFRS and amendments to IFRS that are mandatorily effective for the current year 

(continued)
	 IFRS 16 Leases (continued)
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	 Amendments to IFRS 9: Prepayment features with negative compensation

	 Under IFRS 9, a debt instrument can be measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, provided that the contractual cash flows are ‘solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding’ (the SPPI criterion) and the instrument is held 
within the appropriate business model for that classification. The amendments to IFRS 9 clarify 
that a financial asset passes the SPPI criterion regardless of an event or circumstance that causes 
the early termination of the contract and irrespective of which party pays or receives reasonable 
compensation for the early termination of the contract. 

	 This amendment had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

	 Amendments to IAS 19: Plan amendment, curtailment or settlement

	 The amendment clarifies that the past service costs (or of the gain or loss on settlement) is 
calculated by measuring the defined benefit liability (asset) using updated assumptions and 
comparing benefits offered and plan assets before and after the plan amendment (or curtailment 
or settlement) but ignoring the effect of the asset ceiling. Any change in the effect of the asset 
ceiling that may result from the plan amendment (or curtailment or settlement) is recognised in 
other comprehensive income.

	 The amendment requires that updated assumptions be used to remeasure current service cost 
and net interest for the remainder of the reporting period after the change to the plan. Net interest 
post plan amendments is calculated by multiplying the net defined benefit liability (asset) with 
the discount rate used in the remeasurement. These amendments apply to any future plan 
amendments, curtailments, or settlements of the Group. 

	 The management of the Group has evaluated that the application of these amendments did not 
have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

	 Amendments to IAS 28: Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures

	 The amendments clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 to long-term interests in an associate or 
joint venture to which the equity method is not applied but that, in substance, form part of the 
net investment in the associate or joint venture. This clarification is relevant because it implies 
that the expected credit loss model in IFRS 9 applies to such long-term interests (e.g. loans and 
preference shares).

	 The amendments also clarified that, in applying IFRS 9, an entity does not take account of any 
losses of the associate or joint venture, or any impairment losses on the net investment, recognised 
as adjustments to the net investment in the associate or joint venture that arise from applying IAS 
28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures.

	 This amendment had no significant impact on the consolidated financial statements as the Group 
does not have long-term interests in its associate and joint venture.

3.	 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) (continued)
3.1	 New IFRS and amendments to IFRS that are mandatorily effective for the current year 

(continued)
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	 Annual improvements 2015-2017 cycle (effective 1 January 2019)

−	 IFRS 3 Business Combinations

	 The amendments clarify that, when an entity obtains control of a business that is a joint 
operation, it applies the requirements for a business combination achieved in stages, 
including remeasuring previously held interests in the assets and liabilities of the joint 
operation at fair value. In doing so, the acquirer remeasures its entire previously held interest 
in the joint operation.

−	 IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

	 A party that participates in, but does not have joint control of, a joint operation might obtain 
joint control of the joint operation in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a 
business as defined in IFRS 3. The amendments clarify that the previously held interests in 
that joint operation are not remeasured.

−	 IAS 12 Income Taxes

	 The amendments clarify that an entity should recognise the income tax consequences of 
dividends in profit or loss, other comprehensive income or equity according to where the en-
tity originally recognised the transactions that generated the distributable profits. This is the 
case irrespective of whether different tax rates apply to distributed and undistributed profits.

−	 IAS 23 Borrowing Costs 

	 The amendments clarify that if any specific borrowing remains outstanding after the related 
asset is ready for its intended use or sale, that borrowing becomes part of the funds that an 
entity borrows generally when calculating the capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

	 The management of the Company has evaluated that the application of these amendments 
did not have a significant impact on the Company’s financial statements.

3.	 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) (continued)
3.1	 New IFRS and amendments to IFRS that are mandatorily effective for the current year 

(continued)
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3.2	 New and revised IFRS and interpretations in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted 
by the Group

	 The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRS that have been issued but are not 
yet effective:

•	 IFRS 17	 Insurance Contracts2

•	 Conceptual Framework	 Amendments to References to the Conceptual 
	 	 Framework in IFRS Standards1

•	 IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 	 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
	 Statement and IAS 28 (amendments)	 Investor and its Associates or Joint Ventures3

•	 Amendments to IFRS 3	 Definition of a Business1

•	 Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8	 Definition of Material1

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020, with earlier application 
permitted.

2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with earlier application 
permitted.

3	 Effective date of the amendments has yet to be set by the IASB; however earlier  application of 
the amendments is permitted.

 –	 IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

	 IFRS 17 establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and 
disclosure of Insurance contracts and supersedes IFRS 4 Insurance. IFRS 17 applies to all 
types of insurance contracts (i.e. life, non-life, direct insurance and re-insurance), regardless 
of the type of entities that issue them, as well as to certain guarantees and financial 
instruments with discretionary participation features. The overall objective of IFRS 17 is to 
provide a comprehensive accounting model for insurance contracts that is more useful and 
consistent for insurers.  

	 The core of IFRS 17 is the general model, supplemented by:

1.	 A specific adaptation for contracts with direct participation features (the variable 
fee approach). 

2.	 A simplified approach (the premium allocation approach) mainly for short-duration 
contracts.

	 The general model uses current assumptions to estimate the amount, timing and uncertainty 
of future cash flows and it explicitly measures the cost of that uncertainty. It takes into 
account market interest rates and the impact of policyholders’ options and guarantees.

	 IFRS 17 apply retrospectively to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2023.

3.	 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) (continued)
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	 The management of the Group has evaluated that the application of IFRS 17 amendments 
will not have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements. 

 -	 Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 

	 The IASB has issued a revised Conceptual Framework which will be used in standard-setting 
decisions with immediate effect. Key changes include:

•	 increasing the prominence of stewardship in the objective of financial reporting;
•	 reinstating prudence as a component of neutrality;
•	 defining a reporting entity, which may be a legal entity, or a portion of an entity;
•	 revising the definitions of an asset and a liability;
•	 removing the probability threshold for recognition and adding guidance on 

derecognition;
•	 adding guidance on different measurement basis; and
•	 stating that profit or loss is the primary performance indicator and that, in principle, 

income and expenses in other comprehensive income should be recycled where 
this enhances the relevance or faithful representation of the consolidated financial 
statements.

	 The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020, with 
early application permitted, once further guidance is issued. 

-	 IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (amendments) Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 
and its Associate or Joint Venture   

	 The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 deal with situations where there is a sale or 
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. Specifically, 
the amendments state that gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary 
that does not contain a business in a transaction with an associate or a joint venture that is 
accounted for using the equity method, are recognised in the parent’s profit or loss only to 
the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint venture.

	 Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement of investments retained in any 
former subsidiary (that has become an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for 
using the equity method) to fair value are recognised in the former parent’s profit or loss only 
to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in the new associate or joint venture. 

	 The effective date of the amendments has yet to be set by the IASB; however, earlier 
application of the amendments is permitted. 

3.	 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) (continued)
3.2	 New and revised IFRS and interpretations in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted 

by the Group (continued)
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-	 IFRS 3 Business Combinations

	 The amendments to IFRS 3 aimed at resolving the difficulties that arise when an entity 
determines whether it has acquired a business or a group of assets. To be considered a 
business an acquired set of activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and 
a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. 

	 An optional concentration test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired 
set of activities and assets is not a business was introduced. Under this test, the acquired 
set of activities and assets is not a business, if substantially all of the fair value of the gross 
assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar assets.

	 The amendments are applied prospectively to all business combinations and asset 
acquisitions for which the acquisition date is on or after the first annual reporting period 
beginning on or after 1 January 2020, with early application permitted.

	 The amendments to IFRS 3 will have no impact on the Group’s financial statements.

–	 IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates

	 The International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’) has issued ‘Definition of Material’ 
(Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8) intended to make the definition of material in IAS 1 easier 
to understand and are not intended to alter the underlying concept of materiality in IFRS 
Standards.

	 Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to 
influence decisions that the primary users of general-purpose financial statements make on 
the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about a specific 
reporting entity.

	 The amendments are applied prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2020, with earlier application permitted.

3.	 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) (continued)
3.2	 New and revised IFRS and interpretations in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted 

by the Group (continued)
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4.	 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

4.1	 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

	 In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, the 
management of the Group are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that 
are considered to be relevant. 

	 Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

4.2	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

	 The following are the key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation 
and uncertainty at the reporting period date, that have a significant risk of causing material 
adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

•	 Impairment of non-financial assets
	 (Refer to Note 5 – Property, plant and equipment and Note 7 – Investment properties)
•	 Tax assessments
	 (Refer to Note 43 (a) – Contingent liabilities: Taxes)
•	 Provisions
	 (Refer to Note 27 (a & b) – Provisions)
•	 Revaluation
	 (Refer to Note 5 (b) – Property, plant and equipment: Revaluation of pipelines and related 

facilities)
•	 Carrying value of exploration and production assets
	 (Refer to Note 5 – Property, plant and equipment: Carrying value of exploration and 

production assets)
•	 Useful lives of investment property
	 (Refer to Note 7 – Investment properties)
•	 Impairment of goodwill
	 (Refer to Note 8 – Goodwill) 
•	 Pension and other post-employment benefits
	 (Refer to Note 29 – Pension obligation)
•	 Expected credit losses 
	 (Refer to Note 2.15 (c) – Impairment of financial assets)
•	 Fair value measurement of financial instruments
	 (Refer to Note 49 (g) – Fair value)
•	 Lease accounting 
	 (Refer to Note 9 – Right of use assets)
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5.	 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

a)	 Revaluation of pipelines and related facilities

	 The Group’s pipelines and related facilities are stated at their revalued amounts, being the fair 
value at the date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent 
accumulated impairment losses. The pipelines and related facilities are revalued by an independent 
accredited valuator every five to seven years, on the depreciated replacement costs basis. The 
last valuation was completed as at 31 December 2016. 

	 Details of the Group’s pipeline and related facilities which are measured at fair value and information 
about the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

		  Level 1	 Level 2	 Level 3	 Total
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

	 At 31 December 2019	  -	 11,159,266	 -	 11,159,266

	 At 31 December 2018	 -	 11,468,179	 -	 11,468,179

	 There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during the year.

	 The net carrying amount of the pipelines, if they were carried at cost rather than at the revalued 
amount, would have been $6,237.7 million as at 31 December 2019 (2018: $6,534.0 million).

b)	 Pipelines and related facilities

	 Included in ‘Pipelines and related facilities’ is the Trinidad and Tobago Electricity Commission 
(‘T&TEC’) pipeline system which was acquired by the Group from T&TEC with effect from 1 January 
1977. However, the Group has not obtained full legal title to the asset because all Rights of Way 
associated with the pipeline system have not yet been acquired.

c)	 Assets under construction

	 Included in asset under construction as at 31 December 2019 are major costs relating to Beachfield 
Condensate Facility and fire water pumps $136.3 million, Liquids Contingency Handling at Phoenix 
Park Valve Station $36.3 million, Charlieville diversion $40.8 million, Longdenville replacement line 
$6.0 million and odorisation of facilities $16.7 million.

	 In 2019 and 2018 cost not capital in nature was included in property, plant and equipment and 
subsequently expensed.
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6.	 Capital assets and licenses 
			   Block 2c	 Block 3a	 Total
			   $’000	 $’000	 $’000
	 Year ended 31 December 2019	 	 	 	
	 Opening net book value	 	 1,654,751 	 39,796 	 1,694,547 
	 Additions 	 	 13,564 	 60,454 	 74,018 
	 Depreciation, depletion and amortisation expense	 (292,022)	 -	 (292,022)
	 Impairment expense  	 	 (573,177)	 -	 (573,177)
	 Decommissioning provision	 	 148,198 	 -	 148,198 	

Foreign exchange gain	 	 (5,145)	 (43)	  (5,188)

	 Closing net book value		  946,169	 100,207 	 1,046,376 

	 At 31 December 2019	 	 	 	

	 Cost	 	 4,304,516 	 141,880 	 4,446,396 
	 Accumulated depreciation, impairment, 
	      depletion and amortisation expense	 	 (3,358,347)	 (41,673)	 (3,400,020)

Net book value		  946,169 	 100,207 	 1,046,376 

At 1 January 2018 (Restated, see Note 2.25)				  
Cost	 	 	 4,079,912 	  55,240 	 4,135,152 
Accumulated depreciation, impairment, 
    depletion and amortisation expense	 	 (2,767,146)	 (41,673)	 (2,808,819)

Net book value		  1,312,766 	 13,567 	 1,326,333 

Year ended 31 December 2018				  
Opening net book value	 	 1,312,766 	 13,567 	 1,326,333 
Additions 	 	 61,263 	 26,102 	 87,365 
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation expense	 (265,059)	 -	 (265,059)
Impairment reversal	 	 539,058 	 -	 539,058 
Foreign exchange gain	 	 6,723 	 127 	 6,850 

Closing net book value		  1,654,751 	 39,796	 1,694,547 
	 	 	 	 	
At 31 December 2018 (Restated, see Note 2.25)	 	 	 	

	
Cost	 	 	 4,147,899 	 81,469 	 4,229,368 
Accumulated depreciation, impairment, depletion 
    and amortisation expense	 	 (2,493,148)	 (41,673)	 (2,534,821)

Net book value		  1,654,751 	 39,796 	 1,694,547 

	 In 2013 the Group acquired NGC E&P Investments (Netherlands) B.V. and NGC E&P (Netherlands) B.V. 
which together held a 30% and 8.5% (subsequently changed to 11.41%) participating interest in Block 
2c and Block 3a respectively. These investments were treated as an asset acquisition, since the Group 
does not have joint control in the operations of the respective blocks and the arrangement also does not 
meet the definition of ‘business combination’ under IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’. 
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7.	 Investment properties 
	 					     Assets	
			   Freehold	 Development	 Fabrication	 under
		  Buildings 	 land	 costs	 Yard	 construction	 Total
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

	 Year ended 31 December 2019						    

	 Opening net book value	 102,779 	 46,465 	 375,437 	 24,209 	 1,740 	 550,630 
	 Additions	 -	 -	 3,805 	 -	 6,038 	 9,843 
	 Transfers	 -	 -	 1,740 	 -	 (1,740)	 -
	 Depreciation for year	  (4,046)	 -	  (25,884)	  (1,538)	 -	 (31,468)

	 Closing net book value	 98,733 	 46,465 	 355,098 	 22,671 	 6,038 	 529,005 
	 	 	 	 	 	
	 At 31 December 2019						    

	 Cost	 600,539 	 46,465 	 651,625 	 45,174 	 6,038 	 1,349,841 
	 Accumulated depreciation/
	     impairment	 (501,806)	 -	  (296,527)	  (22,503)	 -	  (820,836)

	 Net book value	 98,733 	 46,465 	 355,098 	 22,671 	 6,038 	 529,005 

	 Year ended 31 December 2018						    

	 Opening net book value	 106,825 	 46,465 	 397,789 	 25,747 	 2,014 	 578,840 
	 Additions	 -	 -	 324 	 -	 2,300 	 2,624 
	 Transfers	 -	 -	 2,574 	 -	  (2,574)	 -
	 Depreciation for year	  (4,046)	 -	 (25,250)	 (1,538)	 -	  (30,834)

	 Closing net book value	 102,779 	 46,465 	 375,437 	 24,209 	 1,740 	 550,630 

	 At 31 December 2018	 	 	 	 	 	

	 Cost	 600,539 	 46,465 	 646,080 	 45,174 	 1,740 	 1,339,998 
	 Accumulated depreciation/
	     impairment	 (497,760)	 -	 (270,643)	 (20,965)	 -	 (789,368)

	 Net book value	 102,779 	 46,465 	 375,437 	 24,209 	 1,740 	 550,630 

					     2019		  2018
					     $’000		  $’000
	 Amount recognised in the statement of profit or loss	 	 	
	 Rental income from investment properties	 	 	 33,398		  36,001

	 Direct operating expenses	 	 	 	 2,812		  3,667

	 Investment properties includes the lands at Union Industrial Estate (‘UIE’) and a warehousing facility 
which was constructed on the UIE.  The Group has applied for a reclamation licence in respect of the 
land on which the warehouse facility sits.
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	 The fair value is based on the investment property value in use.  The recoverable amount of the Group’s 
major assets has been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections from 
lease agreements and the Board approved business development, at a discount rate of 5.602%.  As a 
result of this analysis, no impairment was recognised by management for income year 2019 and 2018 
on its investment properties. 

	 The fair value of the land on which the fabrication yard at La Brea Industrial Estate was also based on 
value-in-use. The recoverable amount of these lands was based on a value in use calculation using 
cash flow projections from the 2020 financial budgets prepared by management and approved by the 
Board of Directors and extrapolated for a four-year period, at a discount rate of 4.83%. As a result of this 
analysis, no impairment was recognised by management for 2019 (2018: nil).

					     2019		  2018
					     $’000		  $’000

	 Union Industrial Estate	 	 	 	 530,357	 	 465,017
	 Brighton Materials Storage and Handling Warehouse Facility	 	 79,008	 	 75,870
	 Land situated at fabrication yard	 	 	 	 139,655	 	 161,675

					     749,020		  702,562

8.	 Other intangible assets 
					     2019		  2018
					     $’000		  $’000

	 Opening net book value	 	 	 	 16,953 	 	 949 
	 Additions at cost	 	 	 	 7,111 	 	 2,576 
	 Transfers	 	 	 	 -	 	 22,636 
	 Depreciation expense	 	 	 	 (2,318)	 	 (9,266)
	 Foreign exchange difference	 	 	 	 (44)	 	 58 

	 Closing net book value				    21,702 		  16,953 
	 	 	
	 Cost	 	 	 	 165,505 	 	 158,438 
	 Accumulated depreciation	 	 	 	 (143,803)	 	 (141,485)

	 Net book value				    21,702 		  16,953 

7.	 Investment properties (continued)
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9.	 Leases

	 The Group as a lessee

	 The Group has lease contracts for land, machinery, equipment and motor vehicles. Set out below are the 
terms:

a)	 Land – with lease term ranging between 30-99 years 
b)	 Machinery and equipment which consist of:

– 	photo copiers with a lease term of three years. There is no option to purchase the copiers. 
– 	cell tower with lease terms of four years

c)     Motor vehicles have a lease term of four years. 

a)	 Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position

	 The statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to leases:

	 Right of use assets
	 Land 	 Machinery &	 Motor		
	 Leases	  Equipment	 Vehicle	 Total
	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000
Year ended 31 December 2019				  

As at 1 January 2019	 109,360 	 4,610	 38,931 	 152,901 
Additions	 -	 13,429 	 -	 13,429 
Transfers	 -	 -	 -	 -
Depreciation for year	 (6,992)	 (4,356)	 (13,107)	 (24,455)
Foreign exchange difference	 (228)	 1 	 (7)	 (234)

As at 31 December 2019	 102,140 	 13,684 	 25,817	 141,641 
	 	 	 	
At 31 December 2019				  

Cost	 109,132 	 18,040 	 38,924	 166,096 
Accumulated depreciation/impairment	 (6,992)	 (4,356)	 (13,107)	 (24,455)

Net book value	 102,140 	 13,684 	 25,817	 141,641
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b)	 Lease liability amounts recognised in the statement of financial position

The statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to lease liability:

Lease liabilities
				   31-Dec-19
				    $’000

Analysed as:	
Current	 	 	 	 12,397 
Non-current	 	 	 	 132,093 

				    144,490 
	
Maturity analysis:	
Year 1	 	 	 	 12,398 
Year 2	 	 	 	 21,155 
Year 3	 	 	 	 4,444 
Year 4	 	 	 	 1,957 
More than 4 years	 	 	 	 104,536 

				    144,490 

c)	 Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss

	 The statement of profit or loss shows the following amounts relating to leases:
	 	 	 	 	31-Dec-19
					     $’000
(i)	 Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets	 24,455 

(ii)	 Interest expense	 10,028 

	 Total	 34,483

	 The Group as a lessor

	 In December 2010 the Company entered into a lease agreement for seventeen (17) years with an up-
stream supplier, for the use of 85% of the 58.8-mile 24-inch diameter offshore subsea pipeline and 
related facilities. The lessee is responsible for maintaining the pipeline over the lease term.

			  2019	 2018
			  $’000	 $’000

Finance lease - gross investment	 631,205	 659,891
Less: Unearned finance charges	 (219,511)	 (259,571)

	 		 411,694	 400,320	
	 	

9.	 Leases (continued)
	 The Group as a lessee (continued)
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9.	  Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)

	 Gross investment in leased assets has the following maturity profile:	 	

			   2019	 2018
			   $’000	 $’000
Within 1 year	 257,670	 280,630
1 to 5 years	 317,230	 284,462
Over 5 years	 56,305	 94,799

	 	 	 631,205	 659,891	
	

Net investment in leased assets has the following maturity profile:

Within 1 year	 187,059	 191,199
1 to 5 years	 180,955	 141,011
Over 5 years	 43,680	 68,110

	 	 411,694	 400,320
	 	 	

Current	 187,059	 191,199
Non-current	 224,635	 209,121

	 	 411,694	 400,320

10.	 Goodwill
	 	 2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Balance at beginning of the year	 2,420,247	 2,413,929
	 Effects of movement in foreign exchange rates	 (6,461)	 6,318

	 Balance at end of the year	 2,413,786	 2,420,247

	 The goodwill arose upon the step acquisition of the additional interest in Phoenix Park Gas Processors 
Limited (‘PPGPL’). 

	 The goodwill was tested for impairment as at 31 December 2019.
	 The key assumptions used in the value in use calculations are as follows:

•	 Discount rate of 10.94%
•	 Long range price and production projections for propane, butane and natural gasoline
•	 NGL Content in natural gas stream.

	 Based on review conducted, there was no impairment of the goodwill recorded on the investment in 
Phoenix Park Gas Processors Limited (‘PPGPL’) as the recoverable amount exceeded the carrying value 
of the investment.

	 Holding all other assumptions constant, an increase or decrease in the discount rate by +/-1%, would 
result in a surplus and no goodwill impairment.
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11.	 Investment in associate
	 	 2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Caribbean Gas Chemical Limited	 	

	 Balance as at 1 January	 314,897 	 298,527 
	 Purchase of shares – equity cash call	 29,753 	 21,036 
	 Share of loss from associate	 (4,513)	 (5,547)
	 Effects of movement in foreign exchange rates	 (844)	 881 

	 Balance at end of the year	 339,293	 314,897
	
	 NGC through NGC Petrochemicals Limited (‘NPL’) holds a 20% equity interest in Caribbean Gas 

Chemical Limited (‘CGCL’).  This company is involved in the development of a petrochemical plant for 
the production of Methanol and Dimethyl Ether (‘DME’).  

12.	 Loans receivable
	 	 2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000

	 Trinidad and Tobago Electricity Commission (‘T&TEC’) (a)	 3,759,297	 3,552,979

	 Atlantic LNG 4 Group of Trinidad and Tobago Limited (b)	 227,642	 296,052

	 	 3,986,939	 3,849,031
	 Less: Expected credit loss	 (19,934)	 (204,614)

	 	 3,967,005	 3,644,417
	 Current portion	 (274,998)	 -

	 Long-term portion	 3,692,007	 3,644,417

a)	 Trinidad and Tobago Electricity Commission (‘T&TEC’)

	 On 31 December 2018, the Group converted trade receivables of TT$3.5 billion (US$524 million) 
for unpaid gas sales to a ten (10) year loan facility issued in two (2) tranches at 6% per annum.

	 Tranche A - Principal amount of TT$1,776.5 million (US$262 million) at interest rate of 6% with 
a one (1) year moratorium on the repayment of principal and interest, with  semi-annual interest 
capitalised over the first (1st) year and thereafter, eighteen (18) equal semi-annual instalments of  
principal and interest commencing from June 2020 to December 2028.

	 Tranche B - Principal amount of TT$1,776.5 million (US$262 million) at interest rate of 6% with 
a five (5) year moratorium on the repayment of principal and interest, with  semi-annual interest 
capitalised over the five (5) years  and thereafter, ten (10) equal semi-annual  payments of principal 
and interest payments commencing from June 2024 until December 2028.
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b)	 Atlantic LNG 4 Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited (‘ALNG Train 4’)

	 Pursuant to the Atlantic LLC Agreement, the members were obligated to make members loans 
and working capital contributions in proportion to each member’s percentage interest to fund the 
construction, commissioning and operations of the ALNG Train 4. 

	 Trinidad and Tobago LNG Limited (‘TTLNG’) loaned the sum of US$112.0 million to ALNG Train 
4 with interest payable quarterly at a rate of LIBOR plus a margin which ranges from 1.125% to 
2.125% per annum with a maturity date of 15 December 2020.  The effective interest rate at the 
reporting date was 4.6818% (2018: 4.609%).  

	 The loan balance as at 31 December 2019 is US$33.7 million (TT$227.6 million), 2018: US$43.7 
million (TT$296.1 million).

13.	 Other financial assets
	 	 2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Financial assets at fair value through other 		
	 comprehensive income (‘FVTOCI’):		

	 (i)       Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI:	 	

	 Listed equity investments			 
Local shares	 618,537 	 831,505 

	 Foreign shares 	 905,893 	 622,071 

	 Non-listed equity investment		
	 Atlantic 1 Holdings LLC 	 59,492 	 83,178 
	 Atlantic LNG 4 Company of Trinidad and Tobago Unlimited 	 1,057,068	 1,370,002
	 Local shares	 967 	 969 

	 Equity instruments at FVTOCI	 2,641,957 	 2,907,725 

(ii)	 Debt instruments at fair value through OCI:	 	

	 Quoted debt instruments			 
Local bonds	 -	 185,243 

	 Foreign bonds	 214,938 	 142,613 

	 Unquoted debt instruments	 	 	
Local bonds	 211,144 	 211,710 

	 Debt instrument at FVTOCI	 426,082 	 539,566 

(iii)	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	 	

	 Credit linked notes 	 723,577 	 515,318 

	 Total other financial assets	 3,791,616 	 3,962,609 

12.	 Loans receivable (continued)
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(i)	 Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI: 

	 Listed equity investments

	 The Group sold some of its investments in equity shares during 2019. The consideration received 
for the sale of these shares was TT$154.2 million (US$22.8 million). There was an accumulated 
loss of TT$2.5 million (US$0.4 million) from the sale of these shares which was transferred to 
retained earnings.  

	 Non-listed equity investments

	 This category includes non-listed equity investments that were fully impaired.

		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000

	 National Helicopter Services Limited	 6,658	 6,675
	 Trinidad and Tobago Marine Petroleum Company (Trintomar)	 150,627	 151,018
	 Eastern Caribbean Pipeline Company	 3,792	 3,802
	 	 	
	 	 161,077	 161,495
	 Less: Impairment	 (161,077)	 (161,495)

	 Balance as at 31 December 	 -	 -

	 In 2018, the Group implemented IFRS 9 and reclassified its equity investment in Atlantic LNG 
Company of Trinidad and Tobago and Atlantic LNG 4 Company of Trinidad and Tobago Unlimited 
as FVTOCI as the Group intends to hold them for the long term for strategic purposes. 

	 	 2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Atlantic LNG Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited	

	 Balance as at 1 January	 83,178 	 63,469 
	 Fair value adjustment IFRS 9 	 -	 126,399 
	 Restated as at 1 January 	 83,178 	 189,868 
	 Movement in fair value assessment - OCI	  (23,464)	  (107,187)
	 Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate	  (222)	 497

	 Balance as at 31 December	 59,492 	 83,178 

	 Atlantic LNG 4 Company of Trinidad and Tobago Unlimited		

	 Balance as at 1 January	 1,370,002 	 189,339 
	 Fair value adjustment IFRS 9	 -	 1,242,884 

	 Restated as at 1 January 	 1,370,002 	 1,432,223 

	 Movement in fair value assessment 	  (309,278)	  (65,969)
	 Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate	  (3,656)	 3,748 

	 Balance as at 31 December	 1,057,068 	 1,370,002

13.	 Other financial assets (continued)
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(ii)	 Debt instruments at fair value through OCI 

	 This includes investments in quoted and unquoted government and corporate bonds. Fair values 
of the quoted debt instruments were determined by reference to published price quotations in an 
active market as at 31 December 2019. 

	 The unquoted bond was determined using a valuation technique. The expected credit loss of 
TT$0.01 million was recorded for 2019 (2018: TT$1.2 million). The amount was recorded in other 
reserves within equity.  

(iii)	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - Investment in Credit Linked Notes 

	 In 2008 the Group issued two (2) single tranche Credit linked notes at a cost of TT$240.1 million 
(US$35.5 million) to meet 50% of the Group’s bond liability that matures in 2036.  The notes have a 
maturity value of TT$1,352.5 million (US$200 million) and is subject to the credit risk of the issuer.   

14.	 Deferred tax

	 Significant components of the deferred tax asset and liability are as follows:

			   (Restated)	 (Restated)
		  2019	 2018	 1-Jan-18
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000
Deferred tax asset:	 	 	

Asset retirement obligation	 547,378 	 450,425 	 509,526 
Post-retirement medical and group life and 
     pension obligation	 103,823 	 72,336 	 82,810 
Tax losses	 226,727 	 14,582 	 25,011 
Accrued interest expense	 27,803 	 33,874 	 32,856 
Expected credit losses	 214,291 	 204,054 	 -
Other		 15,814 	 17,921	 21,580 

		  1,135,836	 793,192 	 671,783

Deferred tax liability:	 	 	 	
	

Property, plant and equipment	 4,705,034 	 5,329,925 	 5,064,751 

13.	 Other financial assets (continued)
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15.	 Contract assets
		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
Capacity rights 	 -	 2,856
Other		 5,516 	 11,982 

	 	 5,516	 14,838	
	 	

Current	 5,516	 14,621
Non-current	 -	 217

	 	 5,516	 14,838

16.	 Debt reserve funds

	 In accordance with a security agreement, one of the subsidiary companies is required to maintain a debt 
reserve fund.  The debt reserve fund is held in an interest-bearing account.

17.	 Cash and cash equivalents
		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000

	 	 	
Cash at banks 	 3,159,859	 6,837,681
Short-term investments (under 3 months)	 445,843	 -

	 	 3,605,702	 6,837,681

a)	 Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily deposit rates. The fair value of cash 
is $3.6 billion (2018: $6.8 billion).

18.	 Short-term investments
		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 	 	
	 Gross short-term investments	 3,418,374 	 1,964,884 
	 Less: Expected credit losses	  (536,627)	 (538,043)

	 Short-term investments	 2,881,747	 1,426,841

a)	 Short-term investments are made for varying periods of between 30 days and 12 months, 
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interest at the respective 
short-term investments rates. 

b)	 The Group has an outstanding balance of $536.6 million as at 31 December 2019 from the 
insolvency of a financial institution which has been fully impaired in the consolidated financial 
statements.  
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19.	 Accounts receivable
		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 	 	
	 Gross accounts receivable	 2,785,112	 1,985,423
	 Less: Expected credit losses	 (595,203)	 (466,336)

	 Net accounts receivable	 2,189,909	 1,519,087

	 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-60 day terms.

	 Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they 
contain significant financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the 
trade receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them 
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. In 2019 the Group further refined its 
provision matrix methodology to separately assess certain receivable balances and consequently the 
loss rate amounts applied to the various buckets.

	 Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying amount is considered to be the 
same as their fair value. 

	 The Group estimates expected credit losses (‘ECL’) on trade receivables using a provision matrix based 
on historical credit loss experience as well as current and future economic conditions.  Set out below 
is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s accounts receivables using a provision 
matrix:

	 	  	 More than	 More than	 More than	 More than	 Over	
		  Within	 30 days 	 60 days	 90 days	 180 days	 365 days
		  30 days	 past due	 past due	 past due	 past due	 past due	 Total
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000
	 As at 31 December 2019	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Trade receivables 
	 individually assessed (i)	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 Expected loss rate	 100.0%	 100.0%	 100.0%	 100.0%	 100.0%	 100.0%	
	 Gross receivables	 4	 3,438 	 (13)	 1,198	 5,949	 506,766	 517,342
	 Loss allowance	 (4)	 (3,438)	 13 	 (1,198)	 (5,949)	 (506,766)	 (517,342)

	 	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -
	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Trade receivables 
	 individually assessed (ii)	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 Expected loss rate	 5.7%	 5.7%	 5.7%	 5.7%	 5.7%	 	
	 Gross receivables	 161,006	 171,299	 85,691	 259,110	 309,177	 -	 986,283
	 Loss allowance	 (9,169)	 (9,755)	 (4,880)	 (14,755)	 (17,607)	 -	 (56,166)

	 	 151,837	 161,544	 80,811	 244,355	 291,570 	 -	 930,117 
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	 Trade receivables 
	 collectively assessed	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 Average expected loss 
	     rate	 1.1%	 1.4%	 3.8%	 16.9%	 9.2%	 9.5%	

	 Gross receivables	 1,125,957	 46,189	 35,442	 5,536	 37,130	 31,233	 1,281,487
	 Loss allowance	 (12,394)	 (636)	 (1,350)	 (933)	 (3,400)	 (2,982)	 (21,695)

	 	 1,113,563	 45,553	 34,092 	 4,603	 33,730	 28,251	 1,259,792

	 Net carrying amount	 1,265,400	 207,097	 114,903 	 248,958	 325,300	 28,251	 2,189,909

	 As at 31 December 2018							     
							     
	 Trade receivables 
	 individually assessed							     

	 Expected loss rate	 100.0%	 100.0%	 100.0%	 100.0%	 100.0%	 100.0%	

	 Gross receivables	 42,674 	 32,777 	 217 	 34,597	 207 	 192,275 	 302,749
	 Loss allowance	 (42,674)	 (32,777)	 (217)	 (34,597)	 (207)	 (192,275)	 (302,749)

	 	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -

	 Trade receivables 
	 collectively assessed						    

	 Average expected loss rate	 4.5%	 3.5%	 10.1%	 53.1%	 32.0%	 99.6%	

	 Gross receivables	 1,440,496 	 44,993 	 38,530 	 63,454 	 51,522 	 43,677 	 1,682,672
	 Loss allowance	 (64,455)	 (1,566)	 (3,897)	 (33,674)	 (16,478)	 (43,516)	  (163,586)

	 	 1,376,041 	 43,427 	 34,633 	 29,780 	 35,044 	 161 	 1,519,086 

	 Net carrying amount	 1,376,041 	 43,427 	 34,633 	 29,780 	 35,044 	 161 	 1,519,086

19.	 Accounts receivable (continued)

	 	  	 More than	 More than	 More than	 More than	 Over	
		  Within	 30 days 	 60 days	 90 days	 180 days	 365 days
		  30 days	 past due	 past due	 past due	 past due	 past due	 Total
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000
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	 The closing loss allowances for trade receivables as at 31 December 2019 reconcile to the opening loss 
allowances as follows:

		  Individually	 Collectively	 Total
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000

	 Opening loss allowance as at 1 January 2019 	 302,749	 163,587	 466,336

	 Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss 
	      during the year	 270,759	 (141,072)	 129,687
	 Amounts recovered	 -	 (349)	 (349)
	 Foreign exchange adjustment	 -	 (471)	 (471)

	 Closing balance as at 31 December 2019	 573,508	 21,695	 595,203

	 The loss allowance on trade receivables are presented as impairment losses within operating profit. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the same line item.

20.	 Sundry debtors and prepayments
	 	 2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Sundry debtors and prepayments comprise the following:	 	

	
	 Due from the GORTT - billed	 379,631 	 412,971 
	 Due from the GORTT - not yet billed	 -	 6,816 
	 Impairment charge - Liquid Fuel Pipeline (a)	  (379,631)	  (398,665)

	 	 -	 21,122 
	 Prepayments	 237,173 	 208,289 
	 Staff related balances	 1,896 	 2,153 
	 Related party balances	 4,089 	 4,610 
	 Value Added Tax	 331,588 	 269,581 
	 Interest receivable	 47,519 	 55,380 
	 Sundry receivables	 217,860 	 365,367 
	 Accrued income	 35,836 	 24,221 
	 Other	 16,586 	 32,151 

	 	 892,547 	 982,874 

a)	 Impairment charge – Liquid Fuel Pipeline

	 The Liquid Fuel Pipeline Project was funded under the Government Public Sector Investment 
Programme (‘PSIP’). The Group invested funds in excess of the approved PSIP allocation. This 
additional investment remains outstanding from the Ministry of Energy and Energy Industries and 
due to uncertainty of repayment a full provision was made for the outstanding balance.

19.	 Accounts receivable (continued)
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21.	 Inventories
		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Liquefied natural gas	 94,718	 9,521
	 Consumable spares	 194,866	 182,037
	 Natural gas liquids	 112,824	 113,980
	 Stock of crude oil	 21,444	 28,134
	 Other	 4,860	 975
	 Allowance for slow moving and obsolete stock	 (26,767)	 (26,839)

	 	 401,945	 307,808

22.	 Shared capital

	 Authorised	 	 	
  	 An unlimited number of ordinary shares of no par value	 	 	
	 	 	
	 Issued and fully paid	 	 	
		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
  	 1,855,266,340 ordinary shares of no par value	 1,855,266	 1,855,266

23.	 Reserve fund

	 A reserve fund has been set up by the Board of Directors with the objective of minimising the Group’s 
exposure arising from business interruption, adverse gas price fluctuations, and liabilities or losses which 
may result from accidents on its self-insured assets.

	 Transfers to the reserve fund will be made in such cases where the Group’s standard return on equity is 
exceeded. The fund cap is 25% of the issued stated capital of NGC.

24.	 Other reserves
	 	 	 Restated	 Restated
		  2019	 2018	 1-Jan-18
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000
	 Other reserves comprise the following:	 	 	

	 Revaluation surplus for offshore plant 
	      and equipment and pipelines, net of deferred tax	 3,049,323	 3,148,849	 3,248,687
	 Expected credit loss on debt securities	 (10)	 (1,233)	 (1,233)
	 Unrealised gain on financial assets at 
	      fair value through other comprehensive income	 1,141,449	 1,403,695	 1,990,260
	 Foreign currency translation	 1,460,947	 1,673,184	 1,475,636

	 	 5,651,709	 6,224,495	 6,713,350
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25.	 Borrowings
		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 US $400M 30-year bond (a)	 2,263,974 	 2,268,920 
	 CALYON Bank Limited (b)	 108,469 	 211,551 
	 First Citizens Bank Limited (c)	 136,432 	 227,994 

	 	 2,508,875 	 2,708,465
	 Current portion	  (199,424)	  (193,990)

	 Non-current portion	 2,309,451 	 2,514,475 

a)	 This loan relates to a US$400 million bond issued on 20 January 2006 to finance the construction/ 
acquisition of two new offshore pipelines and for advances to Trinidad and Tobago LNG Limited 
to fund 11.11% of its shareholder loans to ALNG 4 Company of Trinidad and Tobago Unlimited. 
Following the repurchase of bond amounting to TT$408.9 million (US$60.3 million) as at 31 
December 2019 [2018: TT$408.9 (US$60.3 million)] the net amount outstanding is TT$2.3 billion 
(US$339.7 million).

	 The bond will be redeemed via a bullet payment on 15 January 2036. Interest is payable semi-
annually in arrears at a fixed rate of 6.05% which commenced in 2006. The fair value of the bond 
was TT$2,404.9 million (US$355.6 million) as at 31 December 2019 [2018: TT$2,596.2 million 
(US$382.9 million)].

b)	 The Group secured financing amounted to US$200 million (TT$1.3 billion) from a group of lenders 
for the construction of the Cross Island Pipeline (‘CIP’). 

	 The principal is repayable in thirty consecutive semi-annual instalments which commenced on 1 June 
2006 and matures on 1 December 2020.  Interest on the loan is paid quarterly. 

	 The interest rate is based on the relevant type of Euro/base rate advances requested plus a margin 
as summarised below:

	 	 Euro dollar rate advances	 Base rate advances
	 Pre-conversion	 1.500% p.a.	 0.500% p.a.
	 Post-conversion	 Range of 1.625% to 2.500% p.a.	 Range of 0.625% to 1.500% p.a.

	 As at 31 December 2019, all drawdowns are Eurodollar rate advances. The Group has entered into 
an interest rate hedge with Crédit Agricole Bank effective 1 December 2005 for 15 years, for 50% 
of the financing (US$100 million) at a fixed rate of interest of 4.98% per annum plus the margin 
noted above.

	 The impact of this hedge in 2019 was a decrease in interest expense in the amount of TT$2.0 
million (2018: TT$3.9 million). The fair value of the loan at 31 December 2019 is TT$108.47 (2018: 
TT$209.36 million). 
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	 The collateral given to secure this financing includes:

−	 All collateral accounts which include a debt service reserve account
−	 Assignment of the borrower’s right, title and interest prescribed in specified term sheets 

relating to the gas transportation agreements, receivables and inventory
−	 Assignment of insurance policies
−	 Assignment of the NGC Pipeline Company Limited’s shares owned by NGC
−	 Guarantees by NGC

c)	 The Group has a long-term loan with First Citizens Bank Limited which was issued on 26 March 
2016 at a fixed interest rate of 2.04% with a maturity date in March 2021. Semi-annual payments 
of principal and interest for the loan commenced in September 2016.  The loan facility is unsecured 
and was used to repay the outstanding balances on two long-term senior bonds due April 2017 
and April 2020.

	 	 2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Maturity profile of borrowings	 	 	

In one year or less	 199,424	 193,990
	 In more than one year but not more than two years	 45,477	 199,957
	 In more than two years but not more than three years	 -	 45,598
	 In more than five years	 2,263,974	 2,268,920

	 	 2,508,875	 2,708,465

26.	 Contract liabilities
		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Non-refundable capital contribution (a)	 3,252	 9,530
	 Capital grant (b)	 77,929	 74,588
	 Transportation tariff (c)	 13,372	 44,186
	 Pier user charges (d)	 17,330	 4,172
	 Other	 59,634	 35,879

	 	 171,517	 168,355
	 	 	
	 Current	 74,012	 59,758
	 Non-current	 97,505	 108,597

	 	 171,517	 168,355

Notes
a)	 Non-refundable capital contributions received from industrial users are amortised to profit or loss 

over the period of the industrial users’ sales contracts.
b)	 This amount relates to capital grants expended on depreciable assets and are to be amortised to 

profit or loss over the useful lives of the related asset.
c)	 This amount comprises shippers reserve capacity, which is billed one month in advance.
d)	 This amount comprises pier user charges, which are billed in advance.

25.	 Borrowings (continued)
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27.	 Provisions
			   Restated	 Restated
		  2019	 2018	 1-Jan-18
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000
	 Asset retirement obligation: [Note (a)]	 	 	
	 	 	
	 Balance as at 1 January	 987,834 	 908,826	 954,962
	 Increase/(decrease) in provision	 192,903 	 76,629 	 (48,530)
	 Foreign currency translation	 (2,637)	 2,379 	 2,395 

	 Balance as at 31 December	 1,178,100	 987,834	 908,827
	 	 	
	 Claims/Land purchase: [Note (b)]			 
			 
	 Balance as at 1 January	 1,056,259 	 1,049,364	 -

Increase in provision	 -	 -	 1,049,364 
Foreign currency translation	 (3,250)	 6,895	 -

Balance as at 31 December	 1,053,009	 1,056,259	 1,049,364

Total provision as at 31 December	 2,231,109 	 2,044,093	 1,958,191

(a)	 Asset retirement obligation

	 The Group has recorded provisions for the present value of the estimated cost of decommissioning 
based on studies conducted for the offshore plant and equipment, Block 2c asset located in the 
Greater Angostura field and Block 1a asset located offshore the West Coast of Trinidad. 

	 A letter of credit for TT$151.0 million (US$22.3 million) was established for the Group’s portion of 
the obligation for the TSP platforms. The decommissioning of these platforms is not expected to 
occur before 2025. However, the ultimate amount and timing of the cost may vary from the original 
estimate.

(b)	 Claims/Land purchase

	 The Group has recorded a provision for legal claims against the Group by several downstream 
customers and purchase of right of way lands.

28.	 Post-retirement medical and group life obligation

	 Funding

	 The Parent provides both medical and life benefits to its retirees, the benefits are determined using 
actuarial valuations which involves making assumptions about discount rates, future salary increases 
and medical cost inflation. Due to the long-term nature of these plans such estimates are subject to 
significant uncertainty.  The Plan has no assets.  The Parent expects to pay $0.41 million and $2.94 
million in post-retirement life and medical respectively in 2020.
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	 The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations for medical and group life 
were as follows:

	 	 2019	 2018
		  %	 %
	 Medical cost inflation	 5.75	 5.75
	 Discount rate	 5.50	 5.50
	 General salary increases	 4.00	 4.00

	 Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published mortality tables.  The life expectancies 
underlying the value of the defined benefit obligation as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

	 Life expectancy at age 60 for current pensioner in years:
	 Male	 21.7	 21.0
	 Female	 26.0	 25.1

	 Life expectancy at age 60 for current members aged 40 in years:
	 Male	 22.6	 21.4
	 Female	 26.9	 25.4

	 	 2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000

	 Expense recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
	 loss is as follows:

	 Current service cost	 9,053	 8,074
	 Net interest on net defined benefit liability	 8,376	 8,078

Net benefit cost	 17,429	 16,152

Re-measurement recognised in other comprehensive income

Experience losses	 (21,330)	 (8,142)

Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income	 (21,330)	 (8,142)

Net liability in the statement of financial position arising from the 
entity’s obligation in respect of its defined benefit plans is as follows:

Net defined benefit liability	 189,999	 153,875

Reconciliation of opening and closing statement of financial position:

Opening defined benefit liability	 153,875	 148,334
Net pension cost	 17,429	 16,152

Re-measurements:	 	
Experience adjustments	 21,330	 (8,142)
Group’s premiums paid	 (2,635)	 (2,469)

Defined benefit obligation at end of year	 189,999	 153,875

28.	 Post-retirement medical and group life obligation (continued)
	 Funding (continued)
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29.	 Pension obligation 

	 The Parent and its subsidiaries’ employees excluding PPGPL are members of The National Gas 
Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited Pension Fund Plan. The final salary defined benefit plan which 
was effective from 1 May 1977 and covered all permanent employees has been wound up effective 
31 December 2018 and a new Career Average Defined Plan with an effective date of 1 January 2019 
is being implemented. The plan’s financial funding position is assessed by means of triennial actuarial 
valuations which was completed as at 31 December 2017 and carried out by an independent actuary.

	 The employees of PPGPL, are under a defined contribution plan which came in effect from 1 January 
2003.  This plan is a post-employment plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate 
entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay future amounts covering all full-time employees  
and is funded by payments from employees and employer taking into account the recommendations of 
independent qualified actuaries.  

	 Funding

	 The Group meets the balance of the cost of funding the defined benefit pension plan and must pay 
contributions at least equal to twice those paid by members, which are fixed.  The funding requirements 
are based on regular (at least every 3 years) actuarial valuations of the plan and the assumptions used 
to determine the funding required may differ from those set out above.  The Group expects to pay $18.3 
million to pensions during 2020.

	 The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as follows:

	 	 2019	 2018
		  %	 %
	 Discount rate	 5.5	 5.5
	 General salary increases 	 4.0	 4.0
	 Salary increases due to age, merit and promotion 	 2.0	 2.0

	 Life expectancy at age 60 for current pensioner in years:
	 Male	 21.7	 21.0
	 Female	 26.0	 25.1

	 Life expectancy at age 60 for current members aged 40 in years:
	 Male	 22.6	 21.4
	 Female	 26.9	 25.4

	 Expenses recognised in the statement of profit or loss is as follows:
	 	 2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Current service cost	 39,520	 25,015
	 Net interest on net defined benefit liability	 3,082	 2,649
	 Administration expenses 	 1,095	 1,031

	 Net benefit cost	 43,697	 28,695

	 Re-measurement recognised in other comprehensive income:
	 Experience gain	 7,627	 8,591

	 Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income	 7,627	 8,591
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	 The net liability in the statement of financial position arising from the entity’s obligation in respect of its 
defined benefit plans is as follows: 

	 	 2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Present value of defined benefit obligation	 1,038,731	 977,247

	 Fair value of plan assets 	 (932,094)	 (921,518)

	 Net defined benefit liability	 106,637	 55,729

	 Reconciliation of opening and closing statement of financial position entries:

	 Opening defined benefit liability	 55,729	 88,268
	 Net pension cost  	 43,697	 28,695
	 Re-measurement recognised in other comprehensive income	 7,627	 8,591
	 Group contributions paid	 (416)	 (69,825)

	 Closing defined benefit obligation 	 106,637	 55,729

	 Movement in present value of defined benefit obligation:

	 Defined benefit obligation at start of year	 977,247	 935,621
	 Current service cost	 39,520	 25,015
	 Interest cost	 52,608	 50,302
	 Members contribution	 74	 12,506

	 Re-measurements:	 	
	      Experience adjustments	 (671)	 (3,554)
	      Actuarial losses/(gains) from changes in assumptions 	 12,001	 -
	 Benefits paid	 (42,048)	 (42,643)

	 Defined benefit obligation at end of year	 1,038,731	 977,247

	 Movement in fair value of plan assets/asset allocation:

	 Fair value of plan assets at start of year 	 921,518	 847,353
	 Interest income	 49,526	 47,653
	 Return on plan assets excluding interest income	 3,703	 (12,145)
	 Group contributions	 416	 69,825
	 Members’ contributions	 74	 12,506
	 Benefits paid	 (42,048)	 (42,643)
	 Expenses 	 (1,095)	 (1,031)

	 Fair value of plan assets at end of year	 932,094	 921,518

29.	 Pension obligation  (continued)
	 Funding (continued)
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	 	 2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Asset allocation:

	 Locally listed equities	 218,543	 231,082
	 Overseas equities 	 169,146	 139,788
	 Government issued bonds	 312,439	 297,585
	 Corporate bonds	 148,188	 170,308
	 Mutual funds 	 29,411	 12,902
	 Cash and cash equivalents	 50,915	 66,369
	 Annuities  	 3,452	 3,484

	 Fair value of plan assets at end of year	 932,094	 921,518

	 Re-measurement recognised in Other Comprehensive Income:
	 Experience losses/(gains)

	 Pension 	 7,627	 8,591
	 Post-retirement medical 	 23,547	 (7,333)
	 Post group life (see Note 28)	 (2,217)	 (809)

	 Fair value of plan assets at end of year	 28,957	 449

30.	 Trade payables
		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Trade payables are settled on 30 day terms	 1,781,063	 2,488,356

	 Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities:

	 Interest payable is normally settled in accordance with the terms and conditions of the respective loan 
(Note 25).

31.	 Sundry payables and accruals
		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Interest	 78,397 	 99,974 
	 Material/service amounts	 1,204,143 	 906,546 
	 Contract provisions	 184,095 	 199,172 
	 Employee related 	 86,324 	 80,329 

	 	 1,552,959 	 1,286,021 

29.	 Pension obligation (continued)
	 Funding (continued)
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32.	 Revenue from contracts with customers
		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Sales	 	

	 Natural gas	 9,349,767	 11,368,626
	 Natural gasoline	 1,221,324	 1,205,686
	 Natural gas liquids 	 768,078	 1,405,414
	 Condensate 	 10,135	 13,529
	 Transportation tariffs 	 256,170	 319,183
	 Crude oil	 871,056	 310,694
	 Rental	 18,303	 36,001
	 Liquefied natural gas	 746,388	 1,004,769
	 Marine facilities and services	 368,169	 341,034

	 	 13,609,390	 16,004,936

			   (Restated)
		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Cost of sales	 	

	 Gas purchases	 9,423,697	 9,281,704
	 Feedstock purchases	 730,542	 907,715
	 Depreciation	 1,111,231	 981,440
	 Production taxes/Supplemental petroleum taxes	 115,745	 67,873
	 Maintenance cost	 60,645 	 76,877
	 Dredging	 10,049 	 2,291 
	 Staff cost 	 74,948	 77,324
	 Royalties	 32,444	 47,430
	 Royalty tax	  445,237	 534,999 
	 Exploration and production costs	 222,066	 244,322
	 Other operating cost 	 380,117	 341,667

	 	 12,606,721	 12,563,642

33.	 Other income
		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Lease income	 356,839	 153,762
	 Operating and maintenance fees 	 16,394	 5,925
	 Management fees 	 178	 789
	 Amortisation of non-refundable capital contribution	 6,423	 9,743
	 Net settlement claim	 -	 351,348
	 Liquefied natural gas production payments	 227,640	 186,794
	 Other income 	 29,349	 35,900

	 	 636,823	 744,261
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34.	 Interest and investment income
		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Interest and investment income	 164,214	 187,610
	 Capitalised interest	 215,572	 -
	 Net gain/(loss) on credit link notes	 209,414 	  (86,486)
	 Gain on disposal of investments	 3,095 	 9,661 
	 Recovery of short-term investments	 -	 605,578 
	 Dividend income	 62,547 	 206,030

	 	 654,842 	 922,393

35.	 Administrative, maintenance and general expenses
		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Staff costs	 353,003 	 372,839 
	 Pension and post-retirement medical and group life	 73,026 	 49,590 
	 Depreciation, depletion and amortisation	 61,689 	 47,548 
	 Material, service and contract labour	 61,391 	 82,768 
	 Consulting and professional fees	 51,368 	 104,738 
	 Other 	 299,408 	 345,143 

	 	 899,885 	 1,002,626 
	 	 	 	

Staff costs:	 	 	
Wages and salaries	 417,279 	 439,103 

	 National insurance	 10,672 	 11,060 
	 Pension and post-retirement medical and group life	 73,026 	 49,590 

	 	 500,977 	 499,753 

	 Staff costs included within:	 	 	
Cost of sales (Note 32)	 74,948 	 77,324 

	 Administrative and general expenses 	 353,003 	 372,839 
	 Pension and post-retirement medical and group life	 73,026 	 49,590 

	 	 500,977 	 499,753 
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36.	 Impairment
			   (Restated)
		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Trade receivable 	   114,865 	 235,138 
	 Loan receivable 	   (183,601)	 -
	 Impairment of capital spares	 -	 16,688 
	 Property, plant and equipment – other assets 	 191,526 	  (745)
	 Beachfield compressor [Note 36 (a)]	 10,126 	 217,130 
	 Capital assets and licences [Note 36 (b)]	 573,177 	 (541,213)
	 Other	  (17,240)	 28,820 

	 Charge/(reversal)	 688,853	 (44,182)
	
	 In accordance with IAS 36: ‘Impairment of assets’, management performed impairment tests on all 

assets for which there were indicators of impairment and where impairment provisions were previously 
recorded.  

a)	 Beachfield compressor

	 The Group’s management completed a full operational and commercial review of the Beachfield 
Compressor Project and concluded that mitigating measures have now been implemented to 
reduce operational risks. As a result, further investment in the project has been discontinued. The 
costs incurred in the project is TT$227.3 million (of which TT$10.1 million relates to 2019) has been 
impaired as at 31 December 2019.

b)	 Capital assets and licences 

	 The Group’s management carried out an impairment review of its 100% owned capital assets 
and licences in NGC E&P Investments (Netherlands) B.V. and NGC E&P (Netherlands) B.V., which 
resulted in an impairment expense of TT$573.2 million (US$84.8 million). 

	 The key assumptions used in the value in use calculations are as follows:

•	 Discount rate of 10.58%
•	 The Group’s entitlement of gas assets was estimated between a range of 16.8% to 19.7% 

of total gas revenue and oil entitlement was estimated between a range of 13.9% to 16.4%, 
over the seven-year period.

•	 Crude oil and gas forecasted prices and production projections for the year 2020 to 2026.

	 Based on the cashflows computed, sensitivity analyses were conducted on the discount rate 
used. The scenarios considered were as follows:

a)	 Discount rate was reduced by 100 basis points to 9.58%
b)	 Discount rate was increased by 100 basis points to 11.58%
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	 From the scenarios above, while holding all other variables will increase/(decrease) the impairment 
charge by the following:

−	 Scenario (a), where discount rate was reduced by 100 basis points, while holding all other 
variables constant will decrease the impairment charge by $31.1 million. 

−	 Scenario (b), where discount rate was increased by 100 basis points, while holding all 
other variables constant will increase the impairment charge by $29.7 million. 

37.	 Finance costs
		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Interest on loans and bonds	 174,319 	 184,989 
	 Royalty tax interest	 24,534	 4,239 
	 Decommissioning obligation	 21,249 	 37,638 
	 Leases 	 10,028 	 -
	 Take-or-pay liability	 -	 (23,917)

	 	 230,130 	 202,949

38.	 Share of loss from associate 

	 Name of Group	 Place of incorporation 	 Proportion of ownership
		  and operation	 interest and voting powers 
			   held by the Group
	 	 	 2019		  2018

	 Caribbean Gas Chemical Limited 	 Trinidad and Tobago	 20%	 	 20%
	 (‘CGCL’) 	 	

	 CGCL is a limited liability company in which the Parent owns a 20% ownership interest through NGC 
Petrochemicals Limited.

	 	 2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000

	 Share of loss from associate	 4,513	 6,007

36.	 Impairment  (continued)
	 b)     Capital assets and licences (continued)
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39.	 Taxation
			   (Restated)
		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Corporation tax	 434,109 	 1,266,321 
	 Petroleum profit tax	 422,422 	 79,719 
	 Business levy	 63,653	 299 
	 Green fund levy	 47,738	 63,704 

	 	 967,922	 1,410,043 
	 Deferred tax (credit)/expense	 (892,720)	 134,619 

	 	 75,202	 1,544,662 
	 	 	
	 Reconciliation between tax expense and the product of 
	 accounting profit multiplied by applicable tax rate:	 	
	 	 	
	 Profit for the year before taxation	 470,953	 3,940,548
	 	 	
	 Tax at the rate of 35%	 164,834	 1,379,192 
	 Tax exempt income	  (204,607)	  (96,917)
	 Non-deductible expenses	 140,256 	 290,745 
	 Permanent differences	  (57,351)	 8,311 
	 Other differences	  (25,021)	  (53,970)
	 Prior years’ tax	 26,054 	 (90,630)
	 Business levy	 63,653 	 299 
	 Green fund	 47,738 	 63,704 
	 Increase in valuation allowance	  (71,338)	 129,385 
	 Tax effect of subsidiaries at different rate	  (30,171)	  (61,071)
	 Tax losses un-utilised	  (33,045)	 8,230 
	 Tax losses utilised	  (6,347)	 8,551 
	 Effect of oil and gas assets taxed at a different rate	  (18,879)	 25,732 
	 Foreign exchange translation	 79,426	  (66,899)

	 Current year taxation expense	 75,202	 1,544,662
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40.	 Cash generated from operations
		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Profit for the year before taxation	 470,953 	 3,940,548 
	 	 	
	 Adjustments to reconcile profit for the year before	 	
	 taxation with net cash from operating activities:	 	 	
	 	 	
	 Depreciation	 1,172,992 	 1,028,988 
	 Impairment charge of property, plant and equipment	 201,651 	 261,919 
	 Impairment charge/(reversal) of capital assets and licences	 573,177 	  (541,213)
	 Impairment charge of other receivables	 (85,975)	 235,277 
	 (Reversal)/impairment of other financial assets 	 -	  (164)
	 Decommissioning provision	 22,117 	 -
	 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment	 1,976 	 7,426
	 Share of loss in associate	 4,513 	 6,007
	 Post-retirement costs	 44,634 	 38,492
	 Penalty	 487 	 -
	 Dividend income	  (62,547)	  (206,030)
	 Gain on disposal of other financial assets	  (3,097)	  (9,661)
	 Amortisation of deferred income	  (5,268)	  (5,268)
	 Finance costs	 230,130 	 202,949 
	 Interest income on finance lease	  (86,749)	 (142,164)
	 Interest and investment income	     (562,073)	 (87,905)

	 Operating profit before working capital changes	     1,916,921 	 4,729,201 

	 Working capital changes:	 	

	 (Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable and sundry debtors	 (673,191)	 1,176,534 
	 Decrease in contract assets	 9,034 	 849,708 
	 (Increase)/decrease in inventories	 (94,901)	 135
	 Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities	 8,874 	 (106,829)
	 Increase in trade creditors, sundry creditors and accruals	 (444,475)	 (2,637,809)

	 Cash flows from operating activities	        722,262 	 4,010,940
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National Energy 
Corporation of Trinidad 
and Tobago Limited

NGC Pipeline Company 
Limited

Trinidad and Tobago LNG 
Limited

NGC Trinidad and Tobago 
LNG Limited 

La Brea Industrial 
Development Company 
Limited

Trinidad and Tobago NGL 
Limited

NGC NGL Company 
Limited

Management of marine 
infrastructural facilities and 
Industrial Estate 

Own, operate and maintain a 
56-inch cross island pipeline 
(‘CIP’) 

11.11% ownership at 
Atlantic Train 4 which sells 
liquified natural gas (‘LNG’) 
and natural gas liquids 
(‘NGLs’)

10% ownership in Atlantic 
Train 1 which sells liquified 
natural gas (‘LNG’) and 
natural gas liquids (‘NGLs’)

Management of industrial 
estate and marine 
infrastructure facilities

39% equity interest 
in Phoenix Park Gas 
Processors Limited which 
processes natural gas, the 
aggregation, fractionation 
and marketing of natural gas 
liquids 

51% equity interest 
in Phoenix Park Gas 
Processors Limited which 
processes natural gas, the 
aggregation, fractionation 
and marketing of natural gas 
liquids 

Trinidad and 
Tobago

Trinidad and 
Tobago

Trinidad and 
Tobago

Trinidad and 
Tobago

Trinidad and 
Tobago

Trinidad and 
Tobago

Trinidad and 
Tobago 

100%

100%

100%

62.16%

91.55%

25%

80%

100%

100%

100%

62.16%

81%

25%

80%

41.	 Subsidiaries

a)	 The subsidiaries are as follows:

	 Entities	 Principal activity	 Place of 	 Proportion of
			   incorporation 	 shareholding and
			   and operation	 voting power held 

				    2019	 2018
	 Subsidiaries
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41.	 Subsidiaries (continued)
a)	 The subsidiaries are as follows (continued):

	 Entities	 Principal activity	 Place of 	 Proportion of
			   incorporation 	 shareholding and
			   and operation	 voting power held 

				    2019	 2018
	 Subsidiaries (continued)

NGC CNG Company 
Limited

NGC Petrochemicals   
Limited

NGC E&P (Barbados) 
Limited 

NGC E&P Investments 
(Barbados) Limited 

Downstream 
Petrochemicals Research 
and Development Limited

NGC E&P Investments 
Limited 

NGC Group Captive 
Insurance (Barbados) 
Limited 

Construct, operate and 
maintain compressed 
Natural Gas Service Stations 

20% equity interest in 
Caribbean Gas Chemical 
Limited which produces, 
markets and sells DME and 
Methanol

0.01% membership in 
NGC E&P Netherlands 
Coöperatief U.A. which 
holds a 30% interest in 
Block 2(c) and 11.41% 
interest in Block 3(a)

99.99% membership in 
NGC E&P Netherlands 
Coöperatief U.A. which 
holds a 30% interest in 
Block 2(c) and 11.41% 
interest in Block 3(a)

Management of DME and 
Downstream Promotion 
Fund 

20% equity interest in 
exploration, development 
and production of gas of 
Block 1(a) 

Insurer of various risk 
of its Parent (NGC) and 
subsidiaries assets 

Trinidad and 
Tobago

Trinidad and 
Tobago

Barbados

Barbados

Trinidad and 
Tobago

Trinidad and 
Tobago 

Barbados

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%



Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements (continued) 
(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)
for the year ended 31 December 2019

00

Financial Statements (continued)

103

41.	 Subsidiaries (continued)
a)	 The subsidiaries are as follows (continued):

	 Entities	 Principal activity	 Place of 	 Proportion of
			   incorporation 	 shareholding and
			   and operation	 voting power held 

				    2019	 2018
	 Sub-Subsidiaries

Phoenix Park Gas 
Processors Limited 

NGC E&P Netherlands 
Coöperatief U.A.

NGC E&P (Netherlands) 
B.V. 

NGC E&P Investments 
(Netherlands) B.V.
 

Natural gas processing, the 
aggregation, fractionation 
and marketing of natural gas 
liquids

100% equity interest in 
NGC E&P Investments 
(Netherlands) B.V. which 
holds a 30% interest in 
Block 2(c) and NGC E&P 
(Netherlands) B.V. which 
holds an 11.41% interest in 
Block 3(a)

11.41% equity in 
exploration, development 
and production of oil and 
gas of Block 3(a)

30% equity interest in the 
exploration, development 
and production of oil and 
gas of Block 2(c)

Trinidad and 
Tobago

Incorporation  
Netherlands
Operation  
Trinidad and 
Tobago

Incorporation  
Netherlands
Operation  
Trinidad and 
Tobago

Incorporation  
Netherlands
Operation  
Trinidad and 
Tobago

50.55%

100%

100%

100%

50.55%

100%

100%

100%
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Entities	 Place of 	 Proportion of	 Profit allocated to	 Accumulated	
	 incorporation 	 shareholding 	 non-controlling	 non-controlling
	 and operation	 and voting	 interests	 interest
		   rights held by
		  non-controlling 
		  interest	  		

	 2019	 2018	 2019	 2018	 2019	 2018
			   $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

41.	 Subsidiaries (continued)

b)	 Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries with material non-controlling interest

	 10%*	 10%*	 23,143	 62,216	 179,494	 178,704
	 	 	
	 	
	 75%*	 75%*	 67,693	 181,983	 1,926,886	 2,034,703
	 	 	
	 	
	 37.84%	 37.84%	 15,332 	 24,240 	 102,229	 96,017
	 	 	
	
	
	 20%	 20%	 24,517	 64,272	 255,671	 285,218
	 	 	
	 	
	 	 	 (65,514)	 (65,690)	 125,186	 190,700
	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 33,361	 34,814

						      2,622,827	 2,820,156

Phoenix Park Gas 
Processors Limited

Trinidad and Tobago 
NGL Limited 

NGC Trinidad 
and Tobago LNG 
Company Limited

NGC NGL 
Company Limited

Trinidad and 
Tobago

Trinidad and 
Tobago

Trinidad and 
Tobago

Trinidad and 
Tobago

Fair value adjustment to non-controlling interest in PPGPL

Individually immaterial subsidiaries with non-controlling interests

 Total			 

* 	 In 2017, NGC sold an additional 26% of its investment in Trinidad and Tobago NGL Limited (‘TTNGL’).  
Following the disposal of the additional shares in TTNGL in 2017, the Parent’s interest in Phoenix Park Gas 
Processors Limited is now 50.55%.
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41.	 Subsidiaries (continued)
b)	 Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries with a material non-controlling interest (continued)

	 Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material 
non-controlling interests is set out below.  The summarised financial information below represents 
amounts before intragroup eliminations.

Phoenix Park Gas Processors Limited (‘PPGPL’)
  		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
Summmary statement of financial position 

Current assets	             1,195,619	     1,203,986
Non-current assets	             1,581,752	     1,634,501
Current liabilities	                 (469,622)	         (439,200)
Non-current liabilities	                 (512,813)	         (612,245)
Equity attributable to owners of the PPGPL	             1,615,443	     1,608,337
Non-controlling interest of PPGPL	                   179,494	           178,704    
	

	 Summary statement of profit or loss and other 
	 comprehensive income	
		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Revenue	    2,075,721 	       2,745,862 
	 Expenses 	 (1,844,291)	  (2,123,698)

	 Profit for the year	       231,430 	       622,164 
	 	 	
	 Profit attributable to owners of PPGPL	       208,287 	       559,947 
	 Profit attributable to the non-controlling interest 	              23,143 	          62,217 

	 Profit for the year 	       231,430 	       622,164 
	 	 	
	 Other comprehensive income attributable to 
	      the owner of PPGPL	                  -   	                  -   

	 Other comprehensive income for the year 	                  -   	                  -   

	 Total comprehensive income attributed to the 
	      owners of PPGPL	 208,287 	 559,947 
	 Total comprehensive income attributed to the 
	     non-controlling interest   	 23,143 	 62,217 

	 Total comprehensive income for the year	 231,430 	 622,164 

	 Dividends paid to non-controlling interest	            26,091 	        51,701 
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	 Summary statement of cash flows

	 Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities	          108,125 	       (34,689)
	 Net cash used in investing activities	           (21,401)	       (39,263)
	 Net cash used in financing activities	         (101,579)	       (90,878)

	 Net cash outflow 	           (14,855)	     (164,830)

41.	 Subsidiaries (continued)
b)	 Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries with a material non-controlling interest (continued)
	 Phoenix Park Gas Processors Limited (‘PPGPL’) (continued)

		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
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41.	 Subsidiaries (continued)
b)	 Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries with material non-controlling interest (continued)

	 Trinidad and Tobago NGL Limited (‘TTNGL’)
		  2019	 2018	
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Summmary statement of financial position 

	 Current assets 	 147,388	    295,728	
	 Non-current assets 	 3,134,488	 3,097,751
	 Current liabilities	   (736)	  (262)
	 Equity attributable to owners of TTNGL	 1,354,254	 1,358,514
	 Non-controlling interest	 1,926,886	 2,034,703

	 Summary statement of profit or loss and other 
	 comprehensive income  

	 Revenue	 91,569	 244,722
	 Other expenses	 37,939	 8,253

	 Profit for the year	 129,508	 252,975

         Profit attributable to owners of TTNGL	 61,815	 70,992
	 Profit attributable to the non-controlling interest 	 67,693	 181,983

	 Profit for the year	 129,508	 252,975

	 Other comprehensive income attributable to owners of TTNGL 	 (2,311)	 2,054
	 Other comprehensive income attributable to the 
	      non-controlling interest	 (6,934)	 6,162	

	 Other comprehensive income for the year	 (9,245)	 8,216

 	 Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of TTNGL 	 59,504	 138,566
	 Total comprehensive income attributable to the 
	      non-controlling interest	 60,759	 122,625

	 Total comprehensive income for the year 	 120,263	 261,191

	 Dividends paid to non-controlling interest	 174,150 	   174,150

	 Summary statement of cash flows

	 Net cash generated from operating activities 	   100,904	 199,387
	 Net cash generated from investing activities 	 388	 493
	 Net cash used in financing activities	 (232,200)	 (232,200)

	 Net cash outflow	 (130,908)	 (32,320)	
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41.	 Subsidiaries (continued)
b)	 Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries with material non-controlling interest (continued)

	 NGC NGL Company Limited (‘NGC  NGL’)
		  2019	 2018	
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Summmary statement of financial position 
	
	 Current assets	           352,394	           504,330
	 Non-current assets	           915,418	         911,391
	 Current liabilities	                         (96)	                   (270)
	 Equity attributable to owners of NGC NGL	     1,012,045	   1,130,233
	 Non-controlling interest	           255,671	           285,218

	 Summary statement of profit or loss and other  
	 comprehensive income  	 	 	

	 Revenue	           127,148	           326,011
	 Other expenses	                 (4,565) 	                 (4,650) 

	 Profit for the year	             122,583 	           321,361

	 Profit attributable to owners of NGC NGL	 98,066	 257,089
	 Profit attributable to the non-controlling interest	                 24,517	 64,272 

	 Profit for the year	             122,583	 321,361

	 Other comprehensive income attributable to owners of NGC NGL 	 (3,069)	 3,113
	 Other comprehensive income attributable to the 
	      non-controlling interest	 (767)	 778 

	 Other comprehensive income for the year               	  (3,836)	 2,627

	 Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of NGC NGL 	 94,998	 260,202
	 Total comprehensive income attributable to the 
	      non-controlling interest	 23,749	 65,050 

	 Total comprehensive income for the year	             118,747 	           325,252

	 Dividends paid to non-controlling interest	                 53,260 	                   9,455

	 Summary statement of cash flows			 

	 Net cash used in operating activities	             (25,029)	               (4,690)
	 Net cash generated from investing activities	           332,050	           107,100
	 Net cash used in financing activities	           (266,299) 	               (47,275) 

	 Net cash inflow	                 40,722 	               55,135
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41.	 Subsidiaries (continued)
b)	 Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries with material non-controlling interest (continued)
	

	 NGC Trinidad and Tobago LNG Limited (‘NGC LNG’)

	 Summmary statement of financial position	 2019	 2018	
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Current assets	 264,915	 170,672
	 Non-current assets	 59,492	 83,178
	 Current liabilities	 (54,245)	 (105)
	 Equity attributable to owners of NGC LNG	 167,933	 157,727
	 Non-controlling interest	 102,229	 96,017

	 Summary statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income		

	 Revenue	 226,279	 66,407
	 Expenses	  (185,761)  	 (2,349) 

	 Profit for the year	  40,518  	 64,058 

	 Profit attributable to owners of NGC LNG	 25,186	 39,818
	 Profit attributable to the non-controlling interest	  15,332  	 24,240 

	 Profit for the year	  40,518  	 64,058 

	 Other comprehensive income attributable to owners of NGC LNG	 (14,948)	 (66,215)
	 Other comprehensive income attributable to the	 	
	      non-controlling interest	  (9,099)  	 (40,309) 

	 Other comprehensive income for the year	  (24,047)  	 (106,524)

	 Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of NGC LNG	 10,238	 (26,397)
	 Total comprehensive income attributable to the	 	
	      non-controlling interest	  6,233  	 (16,069) 

	 Total comprehensive income for the year	  16,471  	 (42,466) 

	 Dividends paid to non-controlling interest	  -     	  (726) 

	 Summary statement of cash flows	 	

	 Net cash generated from operating activities	 38,568	 61,892
	 Net cash generated from investing activities	 30,891	 (129,895)
	 Net cash used in financing activities	  -     	  (1,918) 

	 Net cash inflow/(outflow)	  69,459  	 (69,921) 

	 Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets not held by the Group 
and are presented separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from Parent 
shareholders’ equity. Comparative notes to the financial statements are based on information received 
by management as at the reporting date.
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42.	 Associates

	 Company	 Place of incorporation 	 Proportion of ownership
		  and operation	 interest and voting powers
			   2019                     2018
 	
	 Caribbean Gas Chemical Limited	 Trinidad and Tobago	 20%	 20%

	 Trinidad and Tobago Marine 	
	 Petroleum Company Limited
	 (Trintomar)	 Trinidad and Tobago	 20%	 20%

	 The investment in Trintomar was fully impaired in a prior year. 

43.	 Contingent liabilities

a)	 Taxes

	 Claims made on NGC

	 The Board of Inland Revenue (‘BIR’) issued additional assessments for years of income 1993 to 
1994 in respect of re-translation gains and resultant additional taxes totalling TT$20.1 million. The 
Parent has objected to the assessments by the Board of Inland Revenue. Management is currently 
awaiting judgement on this matter. Management has assessed the impact of the application of 
IFRIC 23, however the expected value is immaterial, and no provision has been made in the 
financial statements for any additional tax liabilities.

	 Claims made on PPGPL 

	 The Board of Inland Revenue (‘BIR’) has issued additional assessments for years of income 1997, 
1999-2010 in respect of claims for capital allowances and resultant additional taxes totaling 
TT$268.6 million (US$39.6 million). PPGPL also made payments to the BIR for years of income 
2013, 2016-2018 in respect to claims for capital allowances although we were not issued with 
additional assessments for these years; the amount paid totaled TT$24.6 million (US$3.6 million).

	 PPGPL has raised objections to these assessments and these matters have been submitted to 
the Tax Appeal Board for its ruling. A trial date has not yet been determined and therefore it is not 
practical to determine the outcome of the ruling. However, management has applied IFRIC 23 and 
made a provision for expected value of the amounts in the sum of US$9.0 million (TT$61.0 million). 
In February 2011, the Board of Directors instructed PPGPL to take advantage of the then amnesty 
granted by the Minister of Finance for interest and penalties for the late payment of certain taxes 
by making a deposit with the BIR in the sum of TT$115.2 million (US$18.0 million) before 31 
May 2011 (years assessed at that time 1997-2005). In March 2016, PPGPL took advantage of 
the amnesty granted by the Minister of Finance by making a deposit with the BIR in the sum of 
TT$10.07 million (US$1.6 million) before 31 March 2016 (years assessed 2006-2008). 
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	 In September 2019, PPGPL took advantage of the amnesty granted by the Minister of Finance by 
making a deposit with the BIR in the sum of TT$30.9 million (US$4.6 million) for years assessed 
2009-2010 and years not assessed 2013, 2016, 2017, 2018, on the basis that:

•	 PPGPL’s legal position be preserved;
•	 Should PPGPL be successful in this matter then such sum would be off-set against future 

corporation tax liabilities;
•	 Should PPGPL be unsuccessful, then management would have avoided paying the 

consequential interest and penalties on the disputed sum.

	 The amount PPGPL expects to recover  is currently classified as ‘other accounts receivable and 
prepayments in the statement of financial position’.

b)	 Customs bonds

	 The Group has contingent liabilities in respect of customs bonds amounting to TT$0.4 million 
(2018: TT$1.2 million).

44.	 Guarantees 

	 The Group has provided the following guarantees as at 31 December 2019 and 2018:

	 NGC has pledged its shares in NGC Pipeline Company Limited and provided a guarantee in respect of 
its shipper gas transportation agreement with NGC Pipeline Company Limited as collateral for a loan 
obtained by the Company.  The loan balance is TT$108.5 million (US$16.0 million) at 31 December 2018, 
TT$211.6 million (US$31.2 million) at 31 December 2018.

45.	 Capital commitments

	 	 2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000

	 Approved and contracted capital expenditure	 253,575	 235,346

43.	 Contingent liabilities (continued)
a)	 Taxes (continued)
	 Claims made on PPGPL (continued)
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46.	 Commitment contracts

	 Purchases

	 The Group purchases natural gas through US dollar denominated long-term ‘take-or-pay’ contracts 
from various upstream producers. Under these long-term take-or-pay contracts, the Group is obliged 
to take, or if not taken, pay for said natural gas up to the contracted take-or-pay volume at the current 
price. The prices on certain tranches of gas of these contracts are linked to the commodity prices of 
ammonia and methanol subject to a floor price that escalates annually. For 2019, the Group had no take-
or-pay liability.

	 Sales 

	 The Group’s customers are obligated to take, or if not taken, pay for said natural gas at the current price, 
up to the contracted take-or-pay volume. The price of natural gas sold to the producers of ammonia 
and methanol are linked to the relevant commodity price of ammonia and methanol. The natural gas 
prices under these contracts are not generally capped. The contracts include floor prices that escalate 
annually, which represents the minimum prices for which natural gas can be sold to the respective 
customers.

	 One of the Group’s subsidiaries is committed to sell natural gas liquids to various companies under the 
terms of negotiated sales contracts.  

47.	 Related party transactions

	 The NGC is wholly-owned by the Government of Trinidad and Tobago (‘GORTT’). In the ordinary course of 
its business, the NGC enters into transactions concerning the exchange of goods, provision of services 
and financing with affiliate companies as well as with entities directly and indirectly owned or controlled 
by the GORTT. 

	 Outstanding balances at the year-end are unsecured and the settlement occurs in cash. There have 
been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables.  An assessment 
is undertaken each financial year through examining the financial position of the related party and the 
market in which the related party operates.

48.	 Compensation of key management personnel 
		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000

	 Short-term employee benefits	 70,824	 64,232
	 Post-employment benefit	 5,141	 7,529

	 	 75,965	 71,761
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49.	 Financial risk management 

	 Financial risk management objectives and policies

	 The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including the effects of credit risks, 
liquidity risk, interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and market price risk. Accordingly, the 
Group’s financial performance and position are subject to changes in the financial markets. Overall 
risk management measures are focused on minimising the potential adverse effects on the financial 
performance of the Group. Set out below are the Group’s financial assets and liabilities.

	 Categories of financial instruments
	 	 2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Assets:		

	 Financial assets	 	
	 Other financial assets	 3,791,616	 3,962,609
	 Accounts receivable	 2,189,909	 1,519,087
	 Loans receivable	 3,967,005	 3,644,417

	 	 9,948,530	 9,126,113
	 Other receivables		
	 Debt reserve funds	 120,384	 118,263
	 Cash and cash equivalents	 3,605,702	 6,837,681
	 Short-term investments	 2,881,747	 1,426,841
	 Sundry debtors	 323,774	 505,004
	 Net investment in leased assets	 411,694	 400,320

	 	 7,343,301	 9,288,109

	  Total financial assets	 17,291,831	 18,414,222

	  Non-financial assets	 23,583,377	 24,285,324

	  Total assets	 40,875,208	 42,699,546
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		  2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Shareholder’s equity and liabilities:	 	

	 Financial liabilities:	 	

	 Financial liabilities at amortised cost		

	 Borrowings	 2,508,875	 2,708,465
	 Trade payables	 1,781,063	 2,488,356
	 Sundry payables and accruals	 1,552,959	 1,286,021
	 Dividends payable	 -	 4,238

	  Total financial liabilities	 5,842,897	 6,487,080

	  Non-financial liabilities	 7,555,458	 8,170,188

	  Shareholder’s equity	 27,476,853	 28,042,278

	  Total liabilities	 40,875,208	 42,699,546

	 Risk management structure 

	 The Board of Directors are responsible for the overall risk management approach and for approving the 
risk strategies principles, policies and procedures.  Day-to-day adherence to risk principles are carried 
out by the Executive Management of the Group in compliance with the policies approved by the Board 
of Directors.

	 The main risk arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, 
foreign currency risk and other price risks. Management reviews and agrees policies for managing each 
of these risks which are summarised below:

a)	 Credit risk

	 Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument 
or customer contract, leading to a financial loss.  The Group is exposed to credit risk from its 
operating activities (trade receivables) and from its financial activities including deposits with 
banks and financial institution, foreign exchange transactions and other financial instruments.   

	 Significant changes in the Group’s trade receivable balances could result in losses that are different 
from those provided at year end. Management carefully monitors its exposure to credit risk.  

	 Exposure to credit risk is further managed through regular analysis of the ability of debtors and 
financial institutions to settle outstanding balances.  The Group does not generally hold collateral 
as security. 

49.	 Financial risk management (continued)
	 Categories of financial instruments (continued)
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(i)	 Debt investments  

	 The Group’s loan receivables are considered to have low credit risk, and the loss allowance 
recognised during the period was therefore limited to 12 months expected losses. 

	 The closing loss allowance as at 31 December 2019 as follows: 

		  ALNG IV 	 T&TEC	
		  Loan 	 Loan
		  Receivables	 Receivables	 Total
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000

	 Opening expected credit loss as at 
	 31 December 2018 - calculated under IFRS 9	 1,480	 203,134	 204,614

	 Expected credit loss in the current year 	 (338)	 (184,338)	 (184,676)
	 Foreign exchange	 (4)	 -	 (4)

	  
	 Closing expected credit loss allowance	 1,138	 18,796	 19,934

	 	 as at 31 December 2019

(ii)	 Quoted debt investments
		  Total	
		  $’000	
	 As at 31 December 2018	 1,233
	 Expected credit loss in the current year 	 (1,220)
	 Foreign exchange	 (3)

	 As at 31 December 2019	 10

(iii)	 Credit risk relating to cash at bank

	 Credit risks from balances with banks and financial instruments are managed in accordance 
with the Group’s policy. Investments or surplus funds are made only with approved 
counterparties and within limits assigned to each counterparty. Counterparty limits are 
reviewed by the Group’s Board of Directors on an annual basis. The limits are set to minimise 
the concentration of risk and therefore mitigate financial loss through potential counterparty 
failure.

49.	 Financial risk management (continued)
	 Risk management structure (continued)

a)	 Credit risk (continued)
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b)	 Liquidity risk 

	 The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds by considering planned and probable 
expenditures against projected cash inflows from operations and from the settlement of financial 
assets such as account receivables and levels of cash sales.

	 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities and commitments 
based on contractual (earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay) undiscounted 
payments at the statement of financial position date. The table includes both interest and principal 
cash flows.

49.	 Financial risk management (continued)
	 Risk management structure (continued)

		  On	 ≤ 3	 3-12	 1-5	 ≥ 5	
		  demand	 months	 months	 years	 years	 Total
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000
	 As at 31 December 2019 

	 Assets						    

	 Financial assets at FVTPL	 	 	 	 	 	

	 Financial assets at fair value 
	      through profit or loss	 -	 -	 -	 -	 723,577	 723,577

	 Financial assets at FVTOCI	 	 	 	 	 	

	 Other financial assets	 -	 -	 1,121,723	 496,034	 -	 1,617,757

	 Financial assets at amortised cost	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Loans receivable	 -	 -	 274,864	 1,886,047	 3,325,990	 5,486,901
	 Net investment in leased assets	 -	 64,066	 193,605	 184,425	 56,305	 498,401
	 Debt reserve funds	 -	 120,384	 -	 -	 -	 120,384
	 Cash and cash equivalents	 3,159,859	 445,843	 -	 -	 -	 3,605,702
	 Short-term investments	 -	 2,092,360	 804,130	 -	 -	 2,896,490
	 Accounts receivable	 -	 2,189,909	 -	 -	 -	 2,189,909
	 Sundry debtors 	 -	 323,774	 -	 -	 -	 323,774

		  3,159,859	 5,236,336	 2,394,322	 2,566,506	 4,105,872	 17,462,895

	 Liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	

	 Borrowings	 -	 69,416	 260,183	 595,665	 3,860,540	 4,785,804
	 Trade and other payables	 -	 3,307,074	 13,424	 13,525	 -	 3,334,023

		  -	 3,376,490	 273,607	 609,190	 3,860,540	 8,119,827

	  Net position	 3,159,859	 1,859,846	 2,120,715	 1,957,316	 245,332	 9,343,068
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		  On	 ≤ 3	 3-12	 1-5	 ≥ 5	
		  demand	 months	 months	 years	 years	 Total
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000
	 As at 31 December 2018

	 Assets						    

	 Financial assets at FVTPL	 	 	 	 	 	

	 Financial assets at fair value 
	      through profit or loss	 -	 -	 -	 -	 515,318	 515,318
	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Financial assets at FVTOCI						    

	 Other financial assets	 -	 896,750	 1,467,056	 44,831	 233,438	 2,642,075
	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Financial assets at amortised cost						    

	 Loans receivable	 -	 -	 2,274	 1,108,739	 4,129,398	 5,240,411
	 Accounts receivable	 -	 1,519,087	 -	 -	 -	 1,519,087
	 Net investment in leased assets	 -	 68,195	 212,435	 284,462	 94,799	 659,891
	 Debt reserve funds	 -	 118,263	 -	 -	 -	 118,263
	 Cash and cash equivalents	 6,837,681	 -	 -	 -	 -	 6,837,681
	 Short-term investments	 130,549	 633,381	 662,911	 -	 -	 1,426,841
	 Sundry debtors 	 -	 505,004	 -	 -	 -	 505,004

	 	 6,968,230	 3,740,680	 2,344,676	 1,438,032	 4,972,953	 19,464,571
	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	

	 Borrowings	 -	 123,185	 235,390	 891,250	 4,312,822	 5,562,647
	 Trade and other payables	 -	 3,742,058	 32,319	 -	 -	 3,774,377
	 Dividends payable	 -	 4,238	 -	 -	 -	 4,238

		  -	 3,869,481	 267,709	 891,250	 4,312,822	 9,341,262

	 Net position	 6,968,230	 (128,801)	 2,076,967	 546,782	 660,131	 10,123,309

49.	 Financial risk management (continued)
	 Risk management structure (continued)

b)	 Liquidity risk (continued)
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c)    	 Interest rate risk

	 Interest rate risk for the Group centres primarily on the risk relating to the Group’s long-term debt 
obligations and loan receivables which carry varying interest rates.

	 	 Increase/(decrease) 	 Effect on		
	 in basis points	 profit before tax

			   $’000
	 Borrowings	

	 2019	 +50	 647	

	 	 −50	 (647)
	 	 	
	 2018	 +50	 1,057

	 	 −50	 (1,057)

	 	 Increase/(decrease) 	 Effect on
		  in basis points	 profit before tax		

		  $’000
	 Loan receivables	 	 	

	 2019	 +50	 1,400

	 	 −50	 (1,400)
	 	 	
	 2018	 +50	 1,550

	 	 −50	 (1,550)

49.	 Financial risk management (continued)
	 Risk management structure (continued)
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d)	 Foreign currency risk

	 Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes 
in foreign exchange rates. 

	 Such exposures arises from sales and purchases denominated in currencies other than the 
Group’s functional currency.  As highlighted in the table below the Group’s exposure to Foreign 
currency changes is immaterial.

	 	 Amounts	 Amounts	 Amounts	
	 	 denominated	 denominated	 denominated	
		  in TT	 in US	 in Other
		  currency	 currency	 currency	 Total
		  TT$’000	 TT$’000	 TT$’000	 TT$’000
	 As at 31 December 2019	

	 Assets				  

	 Financial assets at FVTPL	 	 	 	

	 Financial assets at fair value 
	     through profit or loss	 -	 723,577 	 -	 723,577 

	 Financial assets at FVTOCI				  

	 Other financial assets	 830,648 	 2,237,391 	 -	 3,068,039

	 Financial assets at amortised cost	 	 	 	

	 Loans receivable	 -	 3,967,005 	 -	 3,967,005 
	 Net investment in leased assets	 -	 411,694 	 -	 411,694 
	 Debt reserve funds	 -	 120,384 	 -	 120,384 
	 Cash and cash equivalents	 150,217 	 3,437,807 	 17,678	 3,605,702 
	 Short-term investments	 55,294	 2,826,453	 -	 2,881,747
	 Accounts receivable	 1,317	 2,188,592 	 - 	 2,189,909 
	 Sundry debtors	 174,656	 149,118	 -	 323,774

	 	 1,212,132 	 16,062,021 	 17,678  	 17,291,831

	 Liabilities	 	 	 	

	 Borrowings	 -	 2,508,875 	 -	 2,508,875 
	 Trade and other payables	 1,144,355	 2,188,240 	 1,427	 3,334,022 

	 	 1,144,355	 4,697,115	 1,427	 5,842,897

	 Net position	 67,777	 11,364,906	 16,251	 11,448,934

49.	 Financial risk management (continued)
	 Risk management structure (continued)
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		  Amounts	 Amounts	 Amounts	
	 	 denominated	 denominated	 denominated	
		  in TT	 in US	 in Other
		  currency	 currency	 currency	 Total
		  TT$’000	 TT$’000	 TT$’000	 TT$’000
	 As at 31 December 2018	

	 Assets				  

	 Financial assets at FVTPL	 	 	 	

	 Financial assets at fair value 
	      through profit or loss	 -	 515,318 	 -	 515,318 

	 Financial assets at FVTOCI	 	 	 	

	 Other financial assets	 1,044,184 	 2,403,107 	 -	 3,447,291

	 Financial assets at amortised cost	 	 	 	

	 Loans receivable	 -	 3,644,417 	 -	 3,644,417 
	 Accounts receivable	 265	 1,517,448 	 1,374 	 1,519,087 
	 Net investment in leased assets	 -	 400,320 	 -	 400,320 
	 Debt reserve funds	 -	 118,263 	 -	 118,263 
	 Cash and cash equivalents	 231,759 	 6,605,922 	 -	 6,837,681 
	 Short-term investments	 30,711	 1,396,130	 -	 1,426,841
	 Sundry debtors	 61,413	 443,591	 -	 505,004

		  1,368,332 	 17,044,516 	 1,374  	 18,414,222

	 Liabilities	 	 	 	

	 Borrowings	 -	 2,708,465 	 -	 2,708,465 
	 Trade and other payables	 1,596,967	 2,175,990	 1,420 	 3,774,377
	 Dividends payable	 -	 4,238 	 -	 4,238 

	 	 1,596,967	 4,888,693	 1,420 	 6,487,080

	 Net position	 (228,635)	 12,155,823 	 (46)  	  11,927,142

49.	 Financial risk management (continued)
	 Risk management structure (continued)

d)	 Foreign currency risk (continued)
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e)	 Market price risk

(i)	 Equity price risk

	 The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from its investments in local and foreign 
institutions. 

	 The following demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the price 
of these equity instruments, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s equity.  
There is no impact to the Company’s profit before tax as changes are recorded in Other 
Comprehensive Income (‘OCI’).

	 	 Increase/(decrease) 	 Effect on equity
		  in equity price	 $’000
	 2019	 10%	 152,540

	 	 (10%)	 (152,540)
	 	 	
	 2018	 10%	 145,455

	 	 (10%)	 (145,455)

(ii)	 Commodity price risk

	 The Group is exposed to commodity price risk for natural gas, liquified natural gas and 
natural gas liquids sold. The Group’s management of commodity price exposure includes 
securing contracts with suppliers that are linked to the final product price (i.e. ammonia and 
methanol prices). These provisions reduce, but do not eliminate, the effect of commodity 
price volatility.

49.	 Financial risk management (continued)
	 Risk management structure (continued)



Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements (continued) 
(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

for the year ended 31 December 2019

122

(continued)Financial Statements

ANNUAL REPORT
201900122

f)	 Capital management

	 The primary objective of the Group’s capital management policy is to ensure that it maintains 
a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratio in order to support its business and maximise 
shareholder value. It also manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be able to continue as 
a going concern. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2018.

	 The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio which is debt divided by equity plus debt.  The 
Group’s policy is to keep the gearing ratio no higher than 30%.  Set out below are details of the 
Group’s capital structure.   
	 	 2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000
Debt	 	 2,508,875	 2,708,465
Equity	 24,854,026	 25,222,122

Total Capital	 27,362,901	 27,930,587

Gearing ratio	 9.2% 	 9.7%

g)	 Fair values

(i)	 Fair value hierarchy

	 The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of 
financial assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the consolidated financial statements 
based upon the level of judgement associated with the inputs used to measure their fair 
value. The hierarchical levels, from lowest to highest based on the amount of subjectivity 
associated with the inputs to fair valuation of these assets and liabilities are as follows:

	 Level 1

	 Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at 
the measurement date. The types of assets carried at Level 1 fair value are equity and debt 
securities listed in active markets. The fair value of financial instruments traded in active 
markets is based on quoted market prices at the statement of financial position date. The 
quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price.

	 Level 2

	 Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly. These inputs are derived principally from or corroborated 
by observable market data by correlation or other means at the measurement date and for 
the duration of the instruments’ anticipated life.

49.	 Financial risk management (continued)
	 Risk management structure (continued)
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	 The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by 
using valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions 
that are based on market conditions existing at each statement of financial position date. 
Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt. 
Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value 
for the remaining financial instruments.

	 Level 3

	 Inputs that are unobservable for the asset or liability for which there are no active markets 
to determine a price. These financial instruments are held at cost being the fair value of 
the consideration paid for the acquisition of the investments and are regularly assessed for 
impairment.

	 Set out below are the financial instruments of the Group categorised in accordance with 
Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 as set out in Note 2.15:

	 	 Level 1	 Level 2	 Level 3	 Total
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000
	 As at 31 December 2019			 

	 Financial assets at FVTPL 
	 and FVTOCI	 	 	

	 Quoted equities	 1,739,368	 -	 -	 1,739,368
	 Unquoted debt 	 -	 211,144	 -	 211,144
	 Unquoted equities	 -	 -	 1,117,527	 1,117,527
	 Credit linked note	 -	 723,577	 -	 723,577

		  1,739,368	 934,721	 1,117,527	 3,791,616

	 As at 31 December 2018				  

	 Financial assets at FVTPL 
	 and FVTOCI	 	 	

	 Quoted equities	 1,781,432	 -	 -	 1,781,432
	 Unquoted debt	 -	 211,710	 -	 211,710
	 Unquoted equities	 -	 -	 1,454,149	 1,454,149
	 Credit linked note	 -	 515,318	 -	 515,318

		  1,781,432	 727,028	 1,454,149	 3,962,609

49.	 Financial risk management (continued)
	 Risk management structure (continued)

g)	 Fair values (continued)
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	 Level 2 (continued)
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(ii)	 Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at 
amortised cost are as follows:

	 	 2019	 2018
		  Fair value	 Carrying value 	 Fair value	 Carrying value
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000
	 Loan receivables:

	 Trinidad and Tobago 
	      Electricity Commission	 3,740,500	 3,740,500	 3,349,849	 3,349,849
	 Atlantic LNG 4 Company 
	      of Trinidad and Tobago 
	      Limited	 226,506	 226,506	 294,572	 294,572

		  3,967,006	 3,967,006	 3,644,421	 3,644,421
	 	 	 	 	 	

Borrowings:

	 US$400M 30-year bond	 2,404,959	 2,263,974	 2,596,199	 2,268,920
	 Crédit Agricole Bank	 108,469	 108,469	 209,360	 211,551
	 First Citizens Bank Limited 	 122,636	 136,431	 207,151	 227,994

		  2,636,064	 2,508,874	 3,012,710	 2,708,465
	 Net receivables/ 
	 borrowings	 1,330,942	 1,458,132	 631,711	 935,956

	 Fair value hierarchy
		  Level 1	 Level 2	 Level 3	 Total
		  $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

	 At 31 December 2019	 	 	 	

	 Loans receivable	 -	 -	 3,967,006	 3,967,006
	 Borrowings	 (2,404,959)	 (231,105)	 - 	 (2,636,064)

		  (2,404,959)	 (231,105)	 3,567,413	 1,330,942
	 	 	 	 	 	

	
	 At 31 December 2018	 	 	 	

	 Loans receivable	 -	 -	 3,644,421	 3,644,421
	 Borrowings	 (2,596,199)	 (416,511)	 - 	 (3,012,710)

		  (2,596,199)	 (416,511)	 3,644,421	 631,711

49.	 Financial risk management (continued)
	 Risk management structure (continued)

g)	 Fair values (continued)
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	 Short-term financial assets and liabilities

	 The carrying amount of short-term financial assets and liabilities comprising cash and cash 
equivalents, short-term investments, sundry debtors and current liabilities are a reasonable 
estimate of fair values because of the short-term nature of these instruments.

	 The fair value of investments that are actively traded in financial markets is determined by 
reference to quoted market prices at the close of business at the reporting period date. For 
investments where there is no active market the fair value estimates cannot be reasonably 
assessed and as such are measured at cost.

(iv)	 Derivative financial instruments and hedging

	 The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps to hedge its risks 
associated with interest rate and foreign currency fluctuations. Such financial instruments 
are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into 
and are subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the 
fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

	 Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivatives that do not qualify for 
hedge accounting are taken directly to net profit or loss for the year.

50.	 Dividends
	 	 2019	 2018
		  $’000	 $’000

	 Dividends paid to shareholder 	 192,941 	 1,055,547 

	 Dividend per share for 2019 was TT$0.10 (2018:TT$0.56).

51.	 Events after the reporting

	 Management is currently evaluating the potential impact of the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) 
that occurred subsequent to year end. This disease was declared a pandemic by the World Health 
Organisation on 11 March 2020.  The extent of the impact on the financial position and performance of 
the Group depends on future developments, including but not limited to:

(i)	 the duration and spread of the outbreak, 
(ii)	 the extent of restrictions and advisories, and 
(iii)	 the effects on the local and global financial and economic markets, all of which are highly 

uncertain and cannot be predicted.  
	 The continuation of these circumstances could have a negative impact on the Group’s financial condition 

and results.

49.	 Financial risk management (continued)
	 Risk management structure (continued)

g)	 Fair values (continued)
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		  Restated 	
	 2019	 2018	 2017	 2016	 2015
	 $’000  	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000
Assets

Non-current assets	 	 	 	 	

Property, plant and equipment	  16,412,716 	  17,285,885 	  17,458,611 	  17,783,425 	  14,865,793 
Capital assets and licences	  1,046,376 	  1,694,547 	  2,301,979 	  2,513,564 	  1,839,571 
Investment properties	  529,005 	  550,630 	  578,840 	  583,150 	  542,932 
Goodwill	  2,413,786 	  2,420,247 	  2,413,929 	  2,407,897 	  2,264,941 
Other intangible assets	  21,702 	  16,953 	  949 	  7,256 	  15,211 
Right-of-use assets	  141,641 	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   
Investment in associate	  339,293 	  314,897 	  325,968 	  308,367 	  185,338 
Other financial assets	  3,791,616 	  3,962,609 	  3,012,959 	  2,996,826 	  3,268,849 
Loans receivable	  3,692,007 	  3,644,417 	  325,333 	  538,826 	  865,128 
Net investment in leased asset	  224,635 	  209,121 	  394,983 	  530,135 	  582,478 
Deferred tax asset	  1,135,836 	  793,192 	  589,830 	  907,557 	  771,216 
Contract assets	  -   	  217 	  9,039 	  785,333 	  846,099 
Debt reserve funds	  120,384 	  118,263 	  116,083 	  114,867 	  109,073 

Total non-current assets	  29,868,997 	  31,010,978 	  27,528,503 	  29,477,203 	  26,156,629 
	 	 	 	 	
Current assets	 	 	 	 	

Cash and cash equivalents	  3,605,702 	  6,837,681 	  6,434,290 	  4,551,557 	  6,373,130 
Short-term investments	  2,881,747 	  1,426,841 	  437,227 	  1,243,082 	  441,769 
Loans receivable	  274,998 	  -   	  224,647 	  381,117 	  362,682 
Net investment in leased assets 	  187,059 	  191,199 	  136,161 	  95,778 	  60,129 
Accounts receivable	  2,189,909 	  1,519,087 	  6,438,147 	  5,203,752 	  4,133,975 
Sundry debtors and prepayments	  892,547 	  982,874 	  695,972 	  626,546 	  825,248 
Inventories	  401,945 	  307,808 	  306,356 	  214,636 	  242,701 
Contract assets	  5,516 	  14,621 	  856,416 	  95,505 	  196,303 
Income taxes receivable	  566,788 	  408,457 	  378,472 	  291,982 	  330,828 

Total current assets	  11,006,211 	  11,688,568 	  15,907,688 	  12,703,955 	  12,966,765 

Total assets	  40,875,208 	  42,699,546 	  43,436,191 	  42,181,158 	  39,123,394 
	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	

Five-Year Consolidated Statement 
of Financial Position
(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

as at 31 December
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		  Restated 	
	  2019	 2018	 2017	 2016	 2015
	 $’000  	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000
  SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY 
AND LIABILITIES				  

Shareholder’s equity					   

Share capital	  1,855,266 	  1,855,266 	  1,855,266 	  1,855,266 	  1,855,266 
Reserve fund	  438,192 	  438,192 	  438,192 	  438,192 	  438,192 
Other reserves	  5,651,709 	  6,224,495 	  5,382,847 	  5,425,791 	  2,720,150 
Retained earnings	  16,908,859 	  16,704,169 	  16,550,972 	  17,008,162 	  17,788,895 

Total equity attributable to 
     owners of the parent	  24,854,026 	  25,222,122 	  24,227,277 	  24,727,411 	  22,802,503 
Non-controlling interest	 2,622,827	  2,820,156 	  2,786,415 	  2,106,648 	  2,169,237 

Total shareholder’s equity	  27,476,853 	  28,042,278 	  27,013,692 	  26,834,059 	  24,971,740 
	 	 	 	 	
Non-current liabilities	 	 	 	 	

Deferred tax liability	  4,705,034 	  5,329,925 	  5,601,356 	  5,354,765 	  3,931,089 
Borrowings	  2,309,451 	  2,514,475 	  2,700,355 	  2,881,050 	  2,915,633 
Contract liabilities	  97,505 	  108,597 	  135,083 	  138,439 	  153,963 
Lease liability	  132,093 	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   
Provisions	  2,231,109 	  2,044,093 	  908,826 	  954,962 	  877,367 
Post-retirement medical and 
     group life obligation	  189,999 	  153,875 	  148,334 	  167,234 	  162,453 
Pension obligation	  106,637 	  55,729 	  88,268 	  103,889 	  319,036 
Take-or-pay liability	  -   	  -   	  -   	  782,162 	  808,473 

Total non-current liabilities	  9,771,828 	  10,206,694 	  9,582,222 	  10,382,501 	  9,168,014 
	 	 	 	 	
Current liabilities					   

Trade payables	  1,781,063 	  2,488,356 	  4,203,310 	  2,822,944 	  2,819,133 
Sundry payables and accruals	  1,552,959 	  1,286,021 	  2,263,456 	  1,793,737 	  1,706,579 
Borrowings	  199,424 	  193,990 	  188,885 	  183,691 	  171,082 
Contract liabilities	  74,012 	  59,758 	  145,281 	  146,239 	  76,298 
Lease liability	  12,397 	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -
Provisions	 -	 -	 -	 -	 1,405
Dividends payable	  -   	  4,238 	  5,072 	  3,373 	  181,420 
Income taxes payable	  6,672 	  418,211 	  34,273 	  14,614 	  27,723 

Total current liabilities	  3,626,527 	  4,450,574 	  6,840,277 	  4,964,598 	  4,983,640 

Total liabilities	  13,398,355 	  14,657,268 	  16,422,499 	  15,347,099 	  14,151,654 

Total equity and liabilities	  40,875,208 	  42,699,546 	  43,436,191 	  42,181,158 	  39,123,394 

(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)
as at 31 December

Five-Year Consolidated Statement 
of Financial Position (continued)
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Five-Year Consolidated Statement 
of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income

		  Restated	
	 2019	 2018	 2017	 2016	 2015
	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000  

  Sales	 13,609,390 	  16,004,936 	  13,880,519 	  10,903,340 	  16,623,353 

Cost of sales	 (12,606,721)	  (12,563,642)	  (10,994,295)	  (8,846,781)	  (12,093,890)

Gross profit	  1,002,669 	  3,441,294 	  2,886,224 	  2,056,559 	  4,529,463 
Other income	 636,823 	  744,261 	  237,218 	  410,216 	  389,371 
Interest and investment 
     income	 654,842 	  922,393 	  536,930 	  480,206 	  641,402 
Administrative, maintenance 
     and general expenses	  (899,885)	  (1,002,626)	  (1,013,184)	  (1,266,851)	  (1,739,811)
Impairment (expense)/reversal	  (688,853)	  44,182 	  (238,953)	  (202,537)	  (2,415,677)
Finance costs	  (230,130)	  (202,949)	  (146,421)	  (240,217)	  (281,770)
Share of loss from associate	  (4,513)	  (6,007)	  (10,138)	  (16,866)	  -   

Profit before taxation	  470,953 	  3,940,548 	  2,251,676 	  1,220,510 	  1,122,978 
Taxation	  (75,202)	  (1,544,662)	  (1,262,476)	  (499,817)	  (561,986)

Profit for the year after taxation	  395,751 	  2,395,886 	  989,200 	  720,693 	  560,992 

Other comprehensive income, 
net of taxes:					   
Items that will not be 
reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss:					   

Re-measurement of net defined        
     benefit liability	  (28,957)	  (449)	  11,035 	  (17,628)	  321,508 
Income tax relating to net
     defined benefit liability 	 10,135 	  157 	  (3,862)	  6,170 	  (108,978)
Revaluation surplus on pipeline                          
     (net of income tax)	 -	 -	  -   	  2,207,474 	  - 
Net unrealised loss on equity 
     instruments designated at 
     fair value through other 
     comprehensive income   	 (332,742)	  (173,156)	 -	 -	 -
Foreign currency translation                        
     differences	 234,151 	  244,887 	  59,092 	  1,092,271 	  225,200 

	  (117,413)	  71,439 	  66,265 	  3,288,287 	  437,730 

(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

for the year ended 31 December
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Items that may be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss:	 	 	 	 	

Net realised loss on fair value 
     through other comprehensive 
     income 	 (65,602)	  (233,539)	  (18,501)	  (513,571)	  (222,519)

Total other comprehensive 
income for the year, net of tax	  (183,015)	  (162,100)	  47,764 	  2,774,716 	  215,211 

Total comprehensive income          
for the year	 212,736 	  2,233,786 	  1,036,964 	  3,495,409 	  776,203 

Profit for the year after tax 
attributable to:					   

- Owners of the parent	  332,033 	  2,128,292 	  805,617 	  599,090 	  479,493 
- Non-controlling interests	 63,718 	  267,594 	  183,583 	  121,603 	  81,499 

	 395,751 	  2,395,886 	  989,200 	  720,693 	  560,992 

Total comprehensive income         
for the year, net of tax					   
attributable to:	 	 	 	 	

- Owners of the parent	 151,891 	  1,964,064 	  851,338 	  3,334,908 	  685,057 
- Non-controlling interests	 60,845 	  269,722 	  185,626 	  160,501 	  91,146 

	 212,736 	  2,233,786 	  1,036,964 	  3,495,409 	  776,203 

		  Restated	
	 2019	 2018	 2017	 2016	 2015
	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Five-Year Consolidated Statement 
of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income (continued)

(Amounts expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars)

for the year ended 31 December
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